University of Wisconsin Milwaukee UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

December 2015

Functional and Phenotypic Analysis of B- and T-Helper Cells in Rhesus Macaques and African Green Monkeys

Sahar Ali Alhakeem University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd Part of the <u>Medicine and Health Sciences Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Alhakeem, Sahar Ali, "Functional and Phenotypic Analysis of B- and T-Helper Cells in Rhesus Macaques and African Green Monkeys" (2015). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1029. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/1029

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact open-access@uwm.edu.

FUNCTIONAL AND PHENOTYPIC ANALYSIS OF B- AND T-HELPER CELLS IN RHESUS MACAQUES AND AFRICAN GREEN MONKEYS

by

Sahar Ali Alhakeem

A Thesis Submitted in

Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Sciences

in Biomedical Sciences

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

December 2015

ABSTRACT

FUNCTIONAL AND PHENOTYPIC ANALYSIS OF B- AND T-HELPER CELLS IN RHESUS MACAQUES AND AFRICAN GREEN MONKEYS by

Sahar Ali Alhakeem

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2015 Under the Supervision of Professor Wail Hassan, PhD

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is one of the most challenging infectious agents at the current time. To date, many vaccine trials have been conducted. However, there has not been a fully successful trial. This is due, in part, to the gap in knowledge of the protective immune response against HIV. African green monkeys (AGMs) serve as an interesting model to study immune protection in primate immunodeficiency virus infections due to their resistance to AIDS. Experimental SIV infection in rhesus macaques (RMs) resembles HIV infection in humans with chronic immune activation and progression to AIDS well characterized in both. Understanding the immune systems of AGMs and RMs and how they differ is likely to advance our knowledge of immune protection and immunopathogenesis in SIV/HIV disease. B cells are responsible for the humoral arm of acquired immunity, which results in the production of specific antibodies. In lentiviral infections, neutralizing antibodies block viral entry and are, therefore, essential for protective immunity. Other antibody-mediated functions, such as antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, have gained increased interest after the recent demonstration of enhanced antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) in vaccinees in a vaccine trial commonly known as the Thai trial. T helper cells provide co-stimulatory signals that are essential for B cell activation and antibody production. Blocking CD40/CD40L interactions impairs antiviral humoral response, which emphasizes the importance of B and T helper interaction for protective

humoral response. The current study aims to identify key B-cell and T-cell-related differences that separate African green monkeys and rhesus macaques in term of constitutive function (i.e. in the absence of infection) and *in vitro*, SIV-induced dysfunction. In this study, multiparametric flow cytometry approaches were used to identify any differences in the distribution of B and T cell subsets. B cells were stimulated with anti-IgM/G and T cells with phorbol myristate acetate and ionomycin (PMA/I) to assess the expression of their activation markers. These are unspecific stimuli that give an idea about the potential responses of the cells following specific stimulus. Also, B cells were evaluated for the expression and phosphorylation of intracellular signaling proteins. In addition, T cells were evaluated for the production of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, expression of CD107a, and their ability to have more than one function. The results showed that AGMs have lower frequencies and absolute numbers of B and CD4+ T cells than RMs. Moreover, B cells of AGMs showed higher expression levels of CD40 than RMs, a molecule that plays an essential role in antibody production and Ig class switching. Furthermore, the analyses of B cell signaling proteins showed that AGMs express higher levels of these proteins and they get phosphorylated in higher levels than RMs. This may indicate a more robust signaling activity of AGMs' B cells as compared to RMs, which may play a role in an early antibody response that controls the infection. T cells data analyses revealed that CD4 T cells of AGMs produce less IFNy, TNF α , and IL-2 than RM, which may indicate another immediate response, antiinflammatory, rather than pro-inflammatory response. Also, this may explain the lack of chronic immune activation in AGM. DN T cells of AGM showed higher expression levels of CD107a than the DN T cells of RM. This may indicate the cytotoxic function of these cells in addition to their helper functions. DN T cells are resistant to SIV infection, and their multifunctionality give insights into new cellular therapeutic approaches.

© Copyright by Sahar Ali Alhakeem, 2015 All Rights Reserved

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
B Cells	1
Activation and Dynamics	1
The Humoral Response	2
B-Cells Abnormalities in HIV-Infected Subjects	
Alteration in the Distribution of B Cell Subsets	
Defects in B cell responses and proliferation	4
Immunoglobulin Secretion and Cytokines	5
T helper Cells	6
Non-Human Primate Models	
CHAPTER II: MATERIAL AND METHODS	12
Samples and PBMC Purification	12
Cryopreservation	
Cell Revival	13
Flow Cytometry	14
Titration of Conjugated Antibodies	14
B cell's Classification and Detection of Activation Markers	14
In vitro SIV infection and detection of B cell's activation markers:	

T cell's Classification and Detection of Activation Markers	19
Detection of T cell's Cytokines Production	
Detection of Phosphorylation of Intracellular Proteins	24
Detection of Total Intracellular Signaling Proteins	
Data Collection and Statistics	
CHAPTER III: RESULTS	
African green monkeys have fewer B cells compared to rhesus macaques	
B cell subsets differ between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques	s 30
African green monkeys have higher frequencies of CD86+ naïve, but not s	ingle positive
memory B cells compared to rhesus macaques	
Double positive memory B cells of African green monkeys express higher	levels of CD86
compared to rhesus macaques	
B cells of African green monkeys express higher levels of CD40	
<i>In vitro</i> SIV infection has no effect on frequencies and absolute numbers o	f B cell subsets.
SIV infection increases the expression of CD40 in both rhesus macaques a	nd African
green monkeys	
B cells of African green monkeys express higher levels of intracellular sigr	aling proteins
and show higher levels of phosphorylation than rhesus macaques	42
African green monkeys have fewer CD4 T cells than rhesus macaques	

T cell subsets differ between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques
T cells of African green monkeys express lower levels of CD3 than rhesus macaques 55
Central memory T cells of AGM showed decreases in the expression of CD4 upon PMA/I
stimulation but not in rhesus macaques58
There are no differences in the frequencies of activated T cells and the expression of
activation markers between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques60
There are no differences in the expression of CD95 and CD28 between African green
monkeys and rhesus macaques61
T cells of African green monkeys showed less production of cytokines and less
multifunctionality than rhesus macaques64
CHAPTER IV: DISCUSSION76
BIBLIOGRAPHY
APPENDIX: Summary of Results

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Titration of Anti-CD20-APC.H7 by using RMs' PBMC.	16
Figure 2. Anti-pERK-PE titration by using AGMs' PBMC	17
Figure 3. Gating strategy for phenotyping of B cell subsets in the peripheral blood of l	RM
and AGMs, and characterization of surface activation markers.	18
Figure 4. Gating strategy to identify T cells and subsets	21
Figure 5. Gating strategy to identify T cell activation markers.	22
Figure 6. Gating strategy for cytokine analysis	23
Figure 7. Gating strategy to analyze total and phosphorylated intracellular proteins	26
Figure 8. Frequencies and absolute numbers of B cells in the peripheral blood of Afric	an
green monkeys and rhesus macaques.	28
Figure 9. Frequencies and absolute numbers of B cell subsets in African green monkey	ys
and rhesus macaques.	29
Figure 10. Frequencies of CD86+ cells in total CD20+ B cell and B cell subsets	31
Figure 11. Expression levels of CD86 in CD86+ total B cells and B cell subsets in Afric	can
green monkeys and rhesus macaques.	33
Figure 12. Expression levels of CD40 in total CD20+ B cells and B cell subsets in Afric	an
green monkeys and rhesus macaques.	34
Figure 13. Expression levels of CD40 in CD40hi of total CD20+ B cell and B cell subse	ts in
African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.	34
Figure 14. Frequencies of total B cells and subsets following <i>in vitro</i> SIV infection	37
Figure 15. Absolute numbers of total B cells and subsets following in vitro SIV infectio	on. 38

Figure 52. Frequencies of CD134+ and the expression levels in total CD4+, DIV and st	60
Figure 32. Frequencies of CD154+ and the expression levels in total CD4+. DN and su	59 1 bsets .
Figure 31. Frequencies of CD25+ and the expression levels in total CD4+, DN and sub	osets.
Figure 30. Expression levels of CD4 on the surface of CD4+ T cells.	57
Figure 29. Expression levels of CD3 on the surface of DN T cell subsets.	54
Figure 28. Expression levels of CD3 on the surface of CD4+ T cell subsets	53
Figure 27. Expression levels of CD3 on the surface of T cells	52
monkeys and rhesus macaques	50
Figure 26. Frequencies and absolute numbers of DN T cell subsets in African green	
monkeys and rhesus macaques	49
Figure 25. Frequencies and absolute numbers of CD4 ⁺ T cell subsets in African green	i
blood of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.	48
Figure 24. Frequencies and absolute numbers of CD4+ and DN T cells in the peripher	ral
green monkeys and rhesus macaques.	47
Figure 23. Frequencies and absolute numbers of T cells in the peripheral blood of Afr	rican
Figure 22. Frequencies and MFI of phosphorylated intracellular proteins.	46
Figure 21. Cells of AGMs and RMs were intracellularly stained with anti-SYK	45
Figure 20. Cells of AGMs and RMs were intracellularly stained with anti-ERK1	44
Figure 19. Cells of AGMs and RMs were intracellularly stained with anti-PLC-g2	43
Figure 18. MFI of CD40 in total B cells and subsets following <i>in vitro</i> SIV infection	42
Figure 17. MFI of CD86 following <i>in vitro</i> SIV infection.	40
Figure 16. Frequencies of CD86+ cells following in vitro SIV infection.	39

Figure 33. Expression levels of CD95 on the surface of effector and central memory T	cells.
	62
Figure 34. Expression levels of CD28 on the surface of naive and central memory T ce	l ls. 63
Figure 35. CD4 and DN T cells producing cytokines and expressing CD107a.	65
Figure 36. CD4 T cell subsets producing cytokines and expressing CD107a	66
Figure 37. Frequencies of total CD4T cells with different combination of functions inc	lude:
secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	67
Figure 38. Frequencies of CD4 effector T cells with different combination of functions	
include: secretion of IFNy, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	68
Figure 39. Frequencies of CD4 effector memory T cells with different combination of	
functions include: secretion of IFNy, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	69
Figure 40 Frequencies of CD4 central memory T cells with different combination of	
functions include: secretion of IFNy, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	70
Figure 41. DN T cell subsets producing cytokines and expressing CD107a	72
Figure 42. Frequencies of total DN T cells with different combination of functions incl	ude:
secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	72
Figure 43. Frequencies of DN effector T cells with different combination of functions	
include: secretion of IFNy, TNFa, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	73
Figure 44. Frequencies of DN effector memory T cells with different combination of	
functions include: secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	74
Figure 45. Frequencies of DN effector memory T cells with different combination of	
functions include: secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a	75

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. The number of African green monkeys (AGM) and rhesus macaques (RM) that		
were used in each experiment, genders, and age ranges.		
Table 2. Summary of B cell analysis results.		
Table 3. Summary of T cell analysis results.		
Table 4. Summary of T cell cytokine patterns.		

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- HIV, Human immunodeficiency virus
- AIDS, Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
- SIV, Simian immunodeficiency virus
- AGM, African green monkey
- RM, Rhesus macaques
- SM, Sooty mangabeys
- CD, Cluster of differentiation
- DP. Double positive
- SP, Single positive
- EC, effector cells
- EM, effector memory
- CM, Central memory
- BCR, B cell receptor
- ART, Antiretroviral therapy
- ITAMS, Immune-receptor tyrosine-based activation motifs
- Syk, Src-tyrosine kinase
- BLNK, B cell linker protein
- PLC₇2, Phosphorylates phospholipase C gamma 2
- DCs, Dendritic cells
- GC, Germinal center
- ADCC, Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity

SAC, Staphylococcus aureus Cowan
PWM, Pokeweed mitogen
EBV, Epstein-Barr virus
PMA, Phorbol myristate acetate
I, Ionomycin
TNF-α, Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
IL, Interleukin
Ag, antigen
Ig, immunoglobulin
IFN-γ, Interferon gamma
LAMP-1, Lysosomal-associated membrane protein-1
PTM, Pigtailed macaques
PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is dedicated to everyone who believed in me.

I would like to express my deepest appreciation and thanks to my advisor, Dr. Wail Hassan for his support, guidance and help throughout this project. I would also like to thank my thesis committee members, Dr. Jeri-Anne Lyons and John Ndon for their helpful tips and support. I would especially like to thank Dr. Michael Laiosa and his staff at the Fluorescence Activated

Cell Sorting Core facility at UW-Milwaukee for their technical assistance and help. I thank my fellow lab members, Nader Mahdi, Catherine Stalvig, Cindy Sanders, Ndeye Drame, Aaron Taylor, and Brandon Schmidt for help and cheers. Additionally, I would like to thank my

colleague Nizar Khamjan for his tremendous help and support at all times.

My deepest gratitude to my parents who helped, supported and encouraged me to follow my dreams. Thank you for your love and your prayers. Thank you to my sisters and brothers for their love and support at the difficult times. Special thanks goes to my brother Faisal; without you this

journey would not be possible

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

B Cells

Activation and Dynamics

B cells are one of the main components of acquired immunity. The main function of B cells is secretion of antibodies that protect against pathogens. B cells recognize an antigen through the B cell receptor (BCR). The interaction of the antigen and the BCR triggers phosphorylation of immune-receptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMS), which are located on the cytoplasmic tail of CD79A and CD79B of BCR. These activate Src-tyrosine kinase (Syk) that phosphorylate B cell linker protein (BLNK) (Rowley et al. 1995; Ishiai et al. 1999). BLNK in turn phosphorylates phospholipase C gamma 2 (PLC γ 2) (Ishiai et al. 1999). This signaling cascade leads to activation of the B cell.

Naïve mature B-lymphocytes leave the bone marrow and get activated either in peripheral blood or in secondary lymphoid organs. B cell in the secondary lymphoid organs encounter antigens presented by Dendritic cells (DCs), proliferate and either differentiate into short lived plasma cells with low affinity antibodies or enter germinal center (GC) reaction. In the GC, B cells proliferate to produce high affinity antibody-secreting plasma cells and memory cells. Memory cells are responsible for antibody secretion during secondary immune responses, in which they rapidly expand and differentiate into plasma cells in response to recall antigen encounter (reviewed in (LeBien and Tedder 2008)).

The distribution of B cell subsets in the peripheral blood of healthy donors is composed of 56-60% naïve B cells, 28 to 40% memory cells (Klein, Rajewsky, and Kuppers 1998; Spaks, Spaka, and Rivkina 2011), 3% plasma cells (Spaks, Spaka, and Rivkina 2011), and 2-3% immature B

1

cells (Sims et al. 2005). Defects in B cell function as antibody-producing cells and alterations in the distribution of B cell subsets have been found in some diseases and infections.

The Humoral Response

B cells are responsible for the humoral arm of acquired immunity, which results in the production of specific antibodies. In lentiviral infections, neutralizing antibodies block viral entry and are, therefore, essential for protective immunity (Frankel et al. 1998). During HIV infection, these antibodies are produced against the initial viral strain. However, the HIV virus evolves and escapes rapidly by inducing mutations in the targeted epitopes (Burton, Stanfield, and Wilson 2005). HIV evolution makes this antibody response ineffective in controlling HIV infection. However, neutralizing antibodies that target conserved regions of the virus antigens can neutralize a broader number of strains (Burton, Stanfield, and Wilson 2005). Induction of this type of antibodies is the goal of many HIV vaccine designers. Simek, M.D et al. have reported cases in which such broadly neutralizing antibodies were naturally generated in elite controllers, a rare population of infected persons who are able to control HIV infection without a need for retroviral therapy (Simek et al. 2009). Such broadly neutralizing monoclonal antibodies in this group of HIV infected individuals could help in identifying an effective epitope for HIV vaccine design. In addition, several studies showed that passive administration of neutralizing antibodies could prevent HIV and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection in non-human primate models (Shibata et al. 1999; Prince et al. 1991; Putkonen et al. 1991). Other antibody-mediated functions, such as antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), have gained increased interest after the recent demonstration of enhanced ADCC in vaccinees in a vaccine trial commonly known as the Thai trial (Bonsignori et al. 2012). RV144 (Thai-trial) is the only HIV vaccine trial that showed partial protection with 31.2% efficacy (Rerks-Ngarm et

al. 2009). ADCC is mediated by non-neutralizing antibodies, in which the IgG Fab portion binds to the viral antigen presented on the surface of infected cells, leaving the Fc portion of the antibody free to bind to effector cells. This process brings effector cells in close proximity to infected target cells, whereby effector cells lyse or induce apoptosis of target cells. Elite controllers have showed higher ADCC titers than viremic individuals (Lambotte et al. 2013; Baum et al. 1996). The studies mentioned above indicate the importance and the role of B cells and humoral response in controlling HIV infection. However, most HIV patients are unable to produce broadly neutralizing antibodies, or protective non-neutralizing antibodies. Failure of producing such antibodies by HIV patients is due to HIV induced B-cell pathogenesis. Understanding the mechanisms that could protect against HIV-induced B-cell dysfunction can lead to developing new HIV-treatment approaches.

B-Cells Abnormalities in HIV-Infected Subjects

Alteration in the Distribution of B Cell Subsets

HIV patients demonstrate B cell dysfunctions and alterations in B cell subsets. HIV-infected people showed higher count of immature transitional B cells, exhausted B cells, activated mature B cells, and plasmablasts in the peripheral blood compared to uninfected people (Susan Moir and Fauci 2009). It was found that HIV infected patients demonstrated a reduction in the circulating memory B cells (CD19+, CD27+) (Titanji et al. 2006). Also, there was a correlation between memory B cells and CD4+ T-cell counts, which may indicate that memory B cells can be used as a marker of the progression of HIV infection (Titanji et al. 2006). Rhesus macaques (RMs) also showed loss of memory B cells during SIV infection (Klatt et al. 2011; Kling, Shipley, and Norris 2011). In addition, it was found that HIV-infected patients had higher total frequency of plasmablast compared with uninfected donors (Doria-Rose et al. 2009). Moreover, Susan Moir et

al, described a new subpopulation of B cells detected in the circulating blood of HIV patients, which has been referred to as exhausted cells (Susan Moir et al. 2008). These cells are characterized by CD21 ^{low}, high expression of CD20, and low-to-intermediate expression of CD27 (Susan Moir et al. 2008). In addition, exhausted cells demonstrated high expression levels of inhibitory receptors, and alteration of migration molecules, which give similar pattern to virus-exhausted T cells (Susan Moir et al. 2008). Also, these exhausted cells showed a decrease in proliferation, immunoglobulin diversities, and fewer cell divisions occurred compared with CD27+ B cells (Susan Moir et al. 2008). Moreover, these cells showed a decrease in the response to stimuli, but they showed enriched HIV-specific responses (Susan Moir et al. 2008).

Defects in B cell responses and proliferation

HIV impairs the functions of B cells. Memory B cells of patients with primary and chronic HIV infection showed a defect in responding to measles, and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, while memory B cells of long-term non progressors showed similar frequency, and antigen –specific antibody responses as those of healthy blood donors (Titanji et al. 2006). Moreover, the antiretroviral therapy did not reverse memory B cell defects in primary and chronic HIV-infected patients (Titanji et al. 2006).

Malaspina et al, tested the ability of B cells of HIV-infected and uninfected subjects to proliferate in response to CpG-B. They found that the B cells of HIV-infected subjects who did not receive antiretroviral therapy had lower proliferative capacity and diminished cytokine secretion compared to uninfected or infected subjects under treatment (Malaspina et al. 2008). In addition, B cells from HIV-infected patients were unable to differentiate *in vitro* following stimulation with *Staphylococcus aureus* Cowan (SAC) and anti-CD40 monoclonal antibodies (Conge et al. 1998). B cells of SIV infected rhesus macaques also have showed impairment in response to neo and recall antigens (Klatt et al. 2011)

In spite of the hyperactivation of B cells by HIV, B cells showed poor response to other stimuli. Moir et al. compared B cell's ability to proliferate during viremia and after effective antiretroviral therapy (S Moir et al. 2001). They found that B cells showed poor response to various stimuli during viremia, especially CD21^{low} fraction compared to CD21^{high} (S Moir et al. 2001). Also, Miedema et al. investigated the white blood cells of HIV infected homosexual men (Miedema et al. 1988). These men had been infected for two years, and had normal CD4 T cell counts. They found that the B cells of these patients in the presence of allogeneic T-helper cells are not able to produce Ig in response to pokeweed mitogen (PWM) (Miedema et al. 1988). The authors concluded that the HIV infection caused significant defect in the immune cell function very early, before the decline in the CD4+ T cell count (Miedema et al. 1988).

Immunoglobulin Secretion and Cytokines

HIV-infected individuals demonstrate hypergammaglobulinemia, and increases in B cell activation and proliferation, which may lead to B-cell malignancies. When normal B-lymphocytes were incubated with retrovirus, the cells showed high rates of proliferation and differentiation, which was independent of accessory cells. The magnitude of this proliferation was similar to the proliferation rate in response to *Staphylococcus aureus* cowan strain I or Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (Schnittman et al. 1986). Hypergammaglobulinemia was found in SIV-infected rhesus macaques as well (Kling, Shipley, and Norris 2011; Amos et al. 2013). Rhesus macaques have shown 2-fold increase in their peripheral immunoglobulin within one year of SIV infection (Amos et al. 2013).

The studies mentioned above indicate the significant B-cell dysfunction in HIV-patients. Some studies had reported possible mechanisms behind the B-cell pathogenesis. Macchia et al. found that expressing TNF-alpha by HIV-infected T-cells causes polyclonal B-cell activation and immunoglobulin production, which may contribute to hypergammaglobulinemia and development of B-cell malignancies during HIV-infection (Macchia et al. 1993). In addition, Muller et al. reported a higher level of IL-10 and expression of CD40 ligand by T lymphocytes, which directly correlated with serum IgG. This suggests that IL-10 and interaction of T cells with B cells via CD40 are a possible mechanism of B cells polyclonal activation (Müller et al. 1998). They also reported that injection of Ig intravenously caused an increase in IL-10 levels, which served as a positive feedback mechanism to increase the production of antibodies. This indicates a vicious cycle of IL-10 secretion and antibody production (Müller et al. 1998). Since the humoral immune response is an important defense mechanism against HIV, better understanding of B cells pathogenesis will help in advancing HIV treatments and vaccine trials. Identifying mechanisms by which B cells can avoid HIV-induced dysfunction can lead to new treatment that complement the current ART.

T helper Cells

Naïve T cells get activated by antigens in secondary lymphoid tissues and differentiate to effector cells and memory cells. Memory T cells can be subdivided into effector or central memory cells. Naïve cells have low immediate functions, and require high costimulatory signals (Croft, Bradley, and Swain 1994). In comparison, T effector memory have immediate effector functions, require low costimulatory signals (Croft, Bradley, and Swain 1994), and they showed faster kinetics of cytokines production and proliferation in response to a lower dose of Ag compared to naïve T cells (Rogers, Dubey, and Swain 2000). Effector T cells are comparable to

T memory cells in their kinetics of cytokines secretion and proliferation (Bachmann et al. 1999). T central memory cells have no immediate functions but they proliferate and differentiate to effector memory upon antigen stimulation in the secondary lymphoid organs (Sallusto, Geginat, and Lanzavecchia 2004).

T helper cells play a major role in the production of protective humoral response. They activate B cells by ligation to CD40 and B7 on the surface of B cells; these ligations provide costimulatory signals that activate B cells. T cells also secrete cytokines that participate in B cell activation, proliferation, and antibody production. Depletion of CD4+ T cells had a sever effect in the ability of B cells to produce antiviral antibodies (Ahmed, Butler, and Bhatti 1988). In addition, T cells have multiple effector functions such as proliferation and induction of other cells proliferation, secretion of chemoattractants that organize immune responses, and elimination of infected cells by cytolytic activity or secretion of cytokines (Seder, Darrah, and Roederer 2008). The evaluation of T cell cytokine secretion usually assessed by IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 producing T cells. In addition, other functions such as cytolytic activity can be evaluated by detection of a degranulation marker, CD107a, which also known as lysosomalassociated membrane protein-1 (LAMP-1) (Alter, Malenfant, and Altfeld 2004). T cells that have two or more functions referred to as multifunctional CD4+ T cells. These cells reflect the quality of T cell response (Seder, Darrah, and Roederer 2008). Kannanganat et al evaluated HIV-specific CD4 T cells for the production of IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 in two HIV-1-infected groups. They found that HIV controller had higher percentages of CD4 T cells producing two or three cytokines compared to non-controllers. These multifunctional T cells showed an inverse correlation with viral load (Kannanganat et al. 2007).

7

Non-Human Primate Models

Non-human primates are valuable models in biomedical research. This is due the biological and physiological similarities between humans and non-human primates, which make these animals important models of immunological studies and infectious diseases. Importantly, they get infected with some pathogens that infect humans and show similar pathogenesis. For example, Cynomolgus macaques serve as an important model of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. This is due to the similar symptoms that these animals develop during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection to humans. As a result, these animals are used to study pathogenesis, disease progression, immunological response and vaccine development to Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Flynn et al. 2003; J. A. M. Langermans et al. 2005; J. A. Langermans et al. 2001; Capuano et al. 2003). HIV infection in humans is very complicated, which made finding a suitable model to study the pathogenesis of this infection a difficult task. However, non-human primates seem the best model that we have at the current time to study HIV infection. This is due to the studies that showed that chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) are reservoirs of (HIV-1), and sooty mangabeys (Cercocebus atys) of (HIV-2). One of the most widely used non-human primate model in HIV research is rhesus macaque. RM develop AIDS during the course of SIV_{mac} infection, similar to human immunodeficiency syndrome. Therefore, this model has helped in understanding HIV pathogenesis (Haase 2010; Smit-McBride et al. 1998; Li et al. 2005; Gao et al. 1999; Picker et al. 2004). Moreover, they help in evaluating HIV vaccines before proceeding to clinical trials. In contrast to RM, there is African green monkey (AGM), a natural hosts of SIV (Kraus et al. 1989; Ohta et al. 1988). Interestingly, AGMs are commonly infected with SIV without developing AIDS (Krugner-Higby et al. 1990). However, SIV_{agm}, which is isolated from AGMs, can cause AIDS in other monkeys (V M Hirsch et al. 1989).

Despite their resistance to SIV pathogenesis, AGMs have moderate to high viral load and a decrease in CD4 count compared to uninfected animals (Vanessa M Hirsch). Understanding the protective mechanisms used by these animals to control the infection will help in more effective vaccine designing and treatment. While some researchers believe that these animals develop an immune response to control the infection, others believe that these animals just developed a tolerance to the SIV (Vanessa M Hirsch). Although there is no clear understanding why these monkeys don't develop AIDS, there are some published characteristics of AGMs that may contribute to their nonpathogenic SIV infection. For instance, AGMs are characterized by paucity of CD4+ T cells that may restrict viral replication due to the low count of targeted cells (Pandrea et al. 2007). Researchers hypothesized that downregulation of CD4 upon stimulation of CD4+ T cells of AGMs is a possible cause of their resistance to SIV pathogenesis (Pandrea et al. 2006; Murayama et al. 1997). In contrast, studies reported that the downregulation of CD4 during SIV infection in AGMs is insignificant (Pandrea et al. 2006). Moreover, Murayama et al. found that CD4 T cells of AGMs co-express a low level of CD8 antigen. Also, they found that CD4CD8^{low} cells were resistant to SIV infection when they converted to CD4- cells (Murayama et al. 1997). However, these cells keep their helper functions despite the downregulation of CD4 (Perkins et al. 2014). CD4+ T cells of AGMs are also characterized by low expression of CCR5, a coreceptor of SIV/HIV viruses to invade the cells, which again reduce target cells for viral replication (Pandrea et al. 2007). Another characteristic of the non-pathogenic SIV infection is the low level of immune activation (Kaur et al. 2008), which is believed to have a major role in the control of the virus pathogenesis. However, it was reported that AGMs showed an increase in activated CD4+ during the first 10 days of infection, while rhesus macaques did not show significant activation until day 28 upon infection (Kornfeld et al. 2005). Another study showed

that the acute immune activation in SMs was comparable or higher than RMs (Estes et al. 2008). This may indicate an immediate early immune response in AGMs that may lead to the control of the infection.

Reina et al. showed that AGMs lack antibody response against Gag p27 despite the presence of Gag p27-specific T cells (Lozano Reina et al. 2009). However, another study showed that AGMs develop high titer of neutralizing antibodies (Gicheru et al. 1999). Also, Wilks et al. investigated the adaptive immune responses in the milk of AGMs since AGMs rarely pass the infection to their infants. They found that the milk of AGMs contain specific neutralizing antibodies against the autologous virus, which were absent in the milk of RMs. This may indicate the role of humoral response in protection against the virus transmission (Wilks et al. 2011).

In contrast, Schmitz et al. inhibited the adaptive immune response in AGM and pigtailed macaques (PTM) by depleting CD8+ and CD20+ lymphocytes. PTM showed rapid progression to AIDS while AGMs remained healthy. The investigators of this study concluded that the adaptive immune responses are important in protection of PMT but not AGMs (Schmitz et al. 2009). Despite the underestimation of the humoral response role in protection of AGMs in this study, many studies showed that effective humoral response is protective in HIV/SIV non-progressor humans and rhesus macaques. Also, this study does not obscure the fact that the B cells of AGMs are resistant to SIV-induced dysfunction.

B-cells compartments are considered an important part and defense mechanism of the immune system. They also included significantly in SIV/HIV infection pathogenesis. In addition, T helper function is essential for B cell activation and antibodies production. Studying B and T cell subsets, the expression of their surface molecules, and their functions in RMs and AGMs will

help to identify possible intrinsic differences, which may contribute to the control of the virus pathogenesis in AGMs compared to RMs.

The hypothesis of this study is:

T and B cells of *African green monkeys* have characteristics compatible with more robust immune responses compared to the T and B cells of *Rhesus macaques*.

This hypothesis was tested by accomplishing the following specific aims.

- 1. Compare B and T cell subsets in rhesus macaques and African green monkeys.
- Identify B and T cell functional differences between rhesus macaques and African green monkeys.
 - A. Comparing the expression of activation markers in T and B cells
 - B. Comparing total and phosphorylated intracellular signaling proteins in B cells.
 - C. Comparing cytokine secretion patterns in T cells.

CHAPTER II: MATERIAL AND METHODS

Samples and PBMC Purification

In this study healthy RMs and AGMs were used. The exact numbers of monkeys are used in each experiment, age range and genders are shown in (Table.1). The RMs are housed in the Wisconsin National Primate Research Center (Madison, WI), and the AGMs are housed in Wake Forest University-Primates Center (Winston-Salem, NC). Animal care and sample collection were performed based on the guidelines of The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of these facilities. A 15 mL whole blood sample was collected from each monkey in an EDTA tube. The PBMCs were separated by using FicoII-Hypaque gradient centrifugation (Dagur and McCoy 2015). Briefly, the plasma was separated by centrifugation and removed. The remaining cells were diluted with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and layered on Lymphocyte Separated by centrifugation. The plasma layer above PBMC layer was removed, and the lymphocytes layer were transferred to a new tube. The last step is to dilute PBMC with PBS and wash twice.

Cryopreservation

After separation, the PBMCs were pelleted by centrifugation at 400xg for 10 minutes. The supernatants were removed, and the cells were resuspended in freezing medium (10% DMSO, 20% FBS, 70% RPMI 1640) at concentration 2-10 x 10^6 cells/mL. The cell suspensions were divided as 1 mL per cryopreservation tube and frozen in a slow-freeze container at -80°C overnight. Then, the cells were stored in liquid nitrogen.

Experiment	Sample Size		Gender	Age Range
B cell Subsets and activation	AGM	12	5 Female, 7 Male	6-12 year
Marker	RM	12	9 Female, 3 Male	2.8-4.5 year
The effect of SIV-infection on	AGM	3	F	6-12 year
B cell Activation Markers	RM	3	F	2.9-3.7 year
T cell Subsets and Activation	AGM	12	5 Female, 7 Male	6-12 year
Markers	RM	12	9 Female, 3 Male	2.8-4.5 year
	AGM	8	4 Female, 4 Male	6-12 year
T cell Cytokine Production	RM	9	7 Female, 2 Male	2.9-5.2 year
	AGM	5	2 Female, 3 Male	6-9 year
Intracellular Signaling proteins	RM	5	4 Female, 1 Male	2.9-3.7 year

Table 1. The number of African green monkeys (AGM) and rhesus macaques (RM)	that
were used in each experiment, genders, and age ranges.	

Cell Revival

The cells were thawed in a 37°C water bath. Then, the cells were washed in a 15 mL tube with 9 mL of warm (37°C) RPMI 1640 containing 10% FBS, penicillin (100 IU/mL), streptomycin (100 μ g/mL), 1 mM sodium pyruvate, and 50 μ M β -mercaptoethanol by centrifugation at 500xg, for 10 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the cells were resuspended in 2.5 mL of the same medium and plated in 12-well plates. Then, the cells were incubated at 37°C in a 5% carbon dioxide atmosphere overnight. On the second day, the cells were processed for stimulation at a concentration of 5 x 10⁶ cell/ mL.

Flow Cytometry

Titration of Conjugated Antibodies

Antibody titration is performed in order to determine the proper concentration that gives the best separation of the positive and negative populations. **Figure 1** shows an example of surface antibody titration (anti-CD20-APC.H7) by using RMs' PBMC. Titer 1.25µl showed a good separation of the positive and negative populations. **Figure 2** shows Anti-pERK-PE titration by using AGMs' PBMC, 10 µl was a good titer to distinguish the two populations of cells.

B cell's Classification and Detection of Activation Markers

In this experiment 12 animals each of healthy RM and AGMs were used as shown in (Table.1). After overnight revival, the cells were washed again as described previously and resuspended in the same medium at a concentration of 5 x 10^6 cells /mL. The cells were stimulated with 10μ g/mL of F(ab')2 Anti-Human IgM+IgG Functional Grade Purified (eBioscience), unstimulated cells from each animal were used as controls. The cells were incubated for 48h in a 96-well flat bottom plate at 37°C in a 5% carbon dioxide atmosphere

After 48 hours of stimulation, the cells were stained for live/dead by re-suspending in 1:1000 dilution of the violet fluorescent reactive dye (Live/Dead Fixable Dead Cell Stain kit, Invitrogen) and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature in the dark. After incubation, the cells were washed twice with RPMI 1640 by centrifugation at 500xg for 10 minutes. For surface staining, the appropriate titers of the following fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies were added: anti-CD20-APC.H7 (Clone: 2H7), anti-CD21-PE.Cy5 (Clone: B-Iy4), anti-CD40-FITC (Clone: 5C3), these antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences, anti-CD27-APC (Clone: 0323) and anti-CD86-PE (Clone: IT2.2) were purchased from Biolegend. The cells were incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature in dark, and then washed twice with RPMI 1640 by centrifugation

at 500xg for 10 minutes. After that, the supernatants were removed and the cells were fixed with 0.5% paraformaldehyde for 20 minutes at room temperature in dark. Then, the cells were washed twice with RPMI 1640 by centrifugation at 500xg for 10 minutes. After that, the cells were resuspended in 50 to 100 µl of RPMI 1640. The data was collected by using flow cytometry FACS Aria III, and the data analysis was performed by using FlowJo software. The unstimulated cells from each animal were used for B cell subsets identification. The cells were gated for singlets, the dead cells were excluded and the lymphocytes gate was performed based on SSC and FSC as shown in (Figure 3, A). The total B cells were identified as CD20+ cells, and the subsets were identified as naïve B cells (CD27-, CD21+), double positive (DP) memory B cells (CD27+, CD21+), single positive (SP) memory B cells (CD27+, CD21-), tissue like memory B cells (CD27-, CD21-) (Figure 3, A) (Das et al. 2011). For activation markers the unstimulated and stimulated cells were further gated for CD86 and CD40hi as shown in (Figure 3, B).

In vitro SIV infection and detection of B cell's activation markers:

In this experiment 3 animals each of healthy RMs and AGMs were used as shown in Table. 1. After overnight revival, each sample were divide into three portions and 10µg/ mL of F(ab')2 Anti-Human IgM+IgG Functional Grade Purified (eBioscience) were added to each of them. SIVmac251 was added to one portion (titer 26,900 TCID50), 1x of SIVagm9063-2 was added to the second portion, and the third portion kept uninfected as a control. After 48 hours of incubation at 37°C in a 5% carbon dioxide atmosphere, the same protocol mentioned previously for detection of B cell's activation markers was repeated to detect any effect of the infection on the expression of activation markers.



Figure 1 Titration of Anti-CD20-APC.H7 by using RMs' PBMC.



Figure 2. Anti-pERK-PE titration by using AGMs' PBMC. Red= unstimulated cells, blue= stimulated cells



Figure 3. Gating strategy for phenotyping of B cell subsets in the peripheral blood of RM and AGMs, and characterization of surface activation markers.

(A) Unstimulated cells were gated for singlets first, and the dead cells were eliminated. Then, the lymphocytes were gated based on FSC and SSC, and the CD20+ B cells were gated based on SSC and CD20. The total CD20+ B cells were classified based on CD21 and CD27 gaiting as following: naïve B cells (CD27-, CD21+), double positive memory B cells (CD27+, CD21+), single positive memory B cells (CD27+, CD21+), tissuelike memory B cells (CD27-, CD21-). (B) Stimulated and unstimulated total CD20+ B cells and each subset of B cells were further gated for the activation markers CD86+ and CD40hi cells. CD86+%, CD86MFI, total CD40 MFI, and CD40hi MFI were calculated.

T cell's Classification and Detection of Activation Markers

In this experiment 12 animals each of healthy RMs and AGMs were used, as shown in (Table. 1). After overnight revival, the cells were stimulated with 50 ng/mL of phorbol myristate acetate and 500 ng/mL of Ionomycin (PMA/I), DMSO were add to unstimulated cells from each animal as mock stimulus. The cells were incubated for 6 hours in a 96-well flat bottom plate at 37°C in a 5% carbon dioxide atmosphere. By the end of the stimulation period, the cells were stained with the same procedure mentioned in B cell's classification except that the antibodies were used for surface staining as follows: anti-CD3-PerCP-Cy 5.5 (Clone: SP34-2), anti-CD4-PE-CF594 (Clone: L200), anti-CD8-PE-Cy7 (Clone: RPA-T8), anti-CD25-APC-H7 (Clone: M-A251), anti-CD28-FITC (Clone: CD28.2), anti-CD45RA-PE-Cy5 (clone: 5H9), anti-CD95-PE (clone: DX2), and anti-CD154-APC (clone: TRAP1). All the antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences. The data was collected by using flow cytometry FACS Aria III, and the data analysis was performed by using FlowJo software. The unstimulated cells from each animal were used for T cell subsets identification. The cells were gated for singlets first, and the dead cells were excluded. Then, the lymphocytes were gated based on FSC and SSC, and T cells were gated based on SSC and CD3. The total CD3+ T cells were further gated based on CD4 and CD8. T helper cells were identified as CD4+, CD8-, and double negative (CD4-, CD8-) cells (Figure 4. A). T helper cell subsets were identified as naïve (CD28^{lo}, CD95⁻), central memory CM (CD28^{hi}, CD95⁺), and effector memory (EM) (CD28⁻, CD95⁺) (Figure 4. B) (Nishimura et al. 2004). For activation markers, total T helper cells and subsets were gated for CD25+ and CD154+. Then, means fluorescence intensity of CD25 and CD154 were calculated (Figure 5, A). EM cells were further gated for the expression of CD45RA (Figure 5, B).

Detection of T cell's Cytokines Production

In this experiment 9 of healthy RMs and 8 AGMs were used, as shown in (Table. 1). After overnight revival, the cells were stimulated with 50 ng/mL of phorbol myristate acetate and 500 ng/mL of Ionomycin (PMA/I), DMSO were add to unstimulated cells from each animal as mock stimulus. Anti-CD107a-APC.H7 (clone: H4A3, BD Biosciences) was added for both stimulated and unstimulated cells. The cells were incubated for 6 hours in a 96-well flat bottom plate at 37°C in a 5% carbon dioxide atmosphere. BD GolgiPlug protein inhibitor (containing Brefeldin A) was added on the last 4 hours of stimulation. Brefeldin A (BFA) blocks protein transportation, which facilitates cytokines detection by flow cytometry.

The cells were stained for live/dead as mentioned previously. For surface staining, the appropriate titers of the following fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies were added: anti-CD3-PerCP-Cy 5.5 (Clone: SP34-2), anti-CD4-PE-CF594 (Clone: L200), anti-CD8-PE-Cy7 (Clone: RPA-T8), anti-CD45RA-PE-Cy5 (clone: 5H9), anti-CD197 (CCR7)-PE (clone: 3D12). All the antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences. The cells were incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature in dark, and then washed twice with RPMI 1640 by centrifugation at 500xg for 10 minutes. Cells were fixed and permeabilized by resuspending in 100 μl of Cytofix/Cytoperm fixation/permeabilization solution (BD Biosciences) for 20 minutes at room temperature. By the end of staining, the cells were washed twice by BD perm/wash buffer (BD Biosciences) by centrifugation at 500xg for 10 minutes. Then, the cells were stained with anti-TNF-alpha-BV605 (clone: MAB11), anti-IL-2-FITC (Clone: MQ1-17H12), and anti-IFN-γ-APC (Clone: 4S.B3) for 20 minutes at room temperature in dark. All antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences.

500 xg for 10 minutes before proceeding to flow cytometry analysis. **Figure 6** shows the gating strategy for cytokines analysis.



Figure 4. Gating strategy to identify T cells and subsets.

(A) The cells were gated for singlets, the dead cells were excluded, and lymphocytes gating was performed based on FSC and SSC. Total T cells were identified as CD3+. Then, T helper cells were identified based on CD4 and CD8 as CD4+ T cells (CD4+, CD8-) and double negative (DN) T cells (CD4-, CD8-). (B) CD4+ and DN T cells were further classified into subsets based on CD28 and CD95 as naïve (CD28lo, CD95-), central memory CM (CD28hi, CD95+), and effector memory (EM) (CD28-, CD95+)


Figure 5. Gating strategy to identify T cell activation markers.

(A) Total CD4+, DN and subsets were gated for the expression of activation markers CD25 and CD145. (B) The effector memory cells were gated for the expression of CD45RA.





(A) The cells were gated for singlets, the dead cells were excluded, and lymphocytes gating was performed based on FSC and SSC. Total T cells were identified as CD3+. Then, T helper cells were identified based on CD4 and CD8 as CD4+ T cells (CD4+, CD8-) and double negative (DN) T cells (CD4-, CD8-). CD4+ and DN T cells were further classified into subsets based on

CCR7 and CD45RA as naïve (CCR7+, CD45RA+), central memory CM (CCR7+, CD45RA-), effector memory (EM) (CCR7-, CD45RA-), and effector cells (EC) (CCR7-, CD45RA+). **(B)** Total CD4, DN, and each subset were gated for IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, CD107a. Then, Boolean gates were performed

Detection of Phosphorylation of Intracellular Proteins

After overnight revival, cells were serum-starved by washing, and incubation in 5 ml RPMI 1640 containing penicillin (100 IU/ mL), and streptomycin (100 µg/mL), without FBS at 37°C in a 5% carbon dioxide atmosphere for 3 hours. After starvation, the cells were stained with the violet fluorescent reactive dye (Live/Dead Fixable Dead Cell Stain kit, Invitrogen) as mentioned previously. Then, the cells were stained with anti-CD20-APC.H7 (Clone: 2H7, BD Biosciences) and anti-CD27-APC (Clone: 0323, Biolegend) for 20 minutes at room temperature in dark. The cells were washed twice with RPMI 1640 by centrifugation at 500 xg for 10 minutes. Cells stimulation and fixation were taken place in 37°C water bath. The cells were pre warmed in 37°C water path for 10 minutes. After that, 10µg/mL of F(ab')2 Anti-Human IgM+IgG was added to stimulate the cells, RPMI 1640 was added to the un-stimulated cells as a mock stimulus. The incubation continued to 10 minutes. Then, the cells were fixed with an equal amount of prewarmed BD Phosflow fix buffer I for 10 minutes. After that, the samples were transferred to ice and washed twice with RPMI 1640. The supernatant were aspirated and the cells were permed with 50 ul of BD Phosflow perm buffer III for 30 minutes in ice. Then, the cells were washed twice with RPMI 1640 and stained with either anti-Syk (pY348)-Alexa Fluor488 (Clone: I120-722) and anti-ERK1/2 (pT202/pY204)-PE (Clone: 20A) from BD Biosciences, or anti-PLC-g2 (pY759)-PE (Clone: REA341, Miltenyi Biotec) for 30 minutes at room temperature. After staining, the cells were washed twice, and analyzed by flow cytometry. Figure 7 shows the gating strategy that used to analyze phosphorylation of intracellular proteins by using FlowJo.

Detection of Total Intracellular Signaling Proteins

The cells were starved and stained as mentioned above in the *detection of phosphorylation of intracellular proteins*. However, to detect the total intracellular signaling proteins, the cells do not need to be stimulated. The antibodies were used to detect the intracellular proteins are anti-Syk-FITC (Clone: 4D10) and anti-ERK2-PE (Clone: G263-7), or anti-PLC-g2-PE (Clone: K86-1161). All the antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences. **Figure 7** shows the gating strategy that used to analyze total intracellular proteins by using FlowJo.



Figure 7. Gating strategy to analyze total and phosphorylated intracellular proteins. (A) Cells were gated for singlets first, and the dead cells were eliminated. Then, the lymphocytes were gated based on FSC and SSC, and the CD20+ B cells were gated based on SSC and CD20. Memory B cells were identified as CD27+ cells. (B) Total B cells and memory B cells were gated for pSYK, pPLC-g2, and pERK1/2. Gates of unstimulated (red) and stimulated cells (blue)

were emerged to identify cells that phosphorylated the intracellular proteins as shown by shifting of the cells as compared to unstimulated cells. (C) Unstimulated total and memory B cells were gated for total SYK, ERK, and PLC-g2 to identify cells hi and low with these proteins.

Data Collection and Statistics

All data were collected by using flow cytometry FACS AriaIII. Flow cytometry data were analyzed by using FlowJo software (Ashland, OR). The data were analyzed using Student's t-test, p<0.05 was considered significant. For the *in vitro* SIV infection experiment, repeated measure ANOVA and Tukey test were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.0, p<0.05 was considered significant.

CHAPTER III: RESULTS

African green monkeys have fewer B cells compared to rhesus macaques.

African green monkeys have lower counts of total lymphocytes compared to rhesus macaques (data not shown). It is also reported that African green monkeys have few CD4+ cells which might contribute to their resistance to immune deficiency syndrome despite their infection with SIV (Pandrea et al. 2007). Prior to studying the functional parameters of B cells, we wanted to see if there are any differences in the frequencies and absolute numbers of B cells between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. The data showed that African green monkeys have significantly lower frequency (Figure.8 A) and absolute number (Figure.8 B) of CD20+ B cells compared to rhesus macaques (p< 0.05). These data are consistent with Amos et al in which they showed that AGMs had fewer total B cells than RMs (Amos et al. 2013).



Figure 8. Frequencies and absolute numbers of B cells in the peripheral blood of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

African green monkeys have fewer CD20+ B cells in terms of frequencies (A) and absolute numbers (B). Absolute numbers of CD20+ B cells were calculated based on flow cytometry and complete blood counts. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 9. Frequencies and absolute numbers of B cell subsets in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

The CD20+ B cells were classified into subsets based on the expression of CD21 and CD27, single positive (SP) memory cells (CD21-, CD27+), double positive (DP) memory cells (CD21+, CD27+), naïve cells (CD21+, CD27-), tissue-like memory cells (CD21-, CD27-). B cell subsets differ between AGM and RM in terms of frequencies (A) and absolute numbers (B)Absolute numbers of B cell subsets were calculated based on the flow cytometry and complete blood counts as count per microliter of whole blood. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001****.

B cell subsets differ between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques

We further analyzed B cell compartment to look to the subsets. The data showed that African green monkeys had higher frequencies of naïve and SP CD27+ memory cells but the differences did not reach statistical significance. The differences were significant only on DP CD21+CD27+ memory cells (p<0.0001) when African green monkeys had less frequency compared to rhesus macaques. The two species showed equal frequencies of tissue like memory, 11% of total CD20+ B cells (Figure. 9 A). However, when we compared the absolute numbers, the data showed that African green monkeys have significantly fewer absolute numbers of Naïve, DP CD21+CD27+ memory, and tissue like memory cells compared to rhesus macaques (p<0.5). Also, African green monkeys had less activated memory but the difference was not statistically significant (Figure.9 B).



Figure 10. Frequencies of CD86+ cells in total CD20+ B cell and B cell subsets.

PBMC of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques were stimulated with anti-IgM+IgG for 48 hours, ustimulated cells of each monkey were used as control. (A) Frequencies of CD86+ cells based on flow cytometry data. (B) Frequencies of CD86+ cells normalized to unstimulated by subtracting the frequency of CD86+ of unstimulated cells from CD86+ frequency of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01***, or <0.001***.

African green monkeys have higher frequencies of CD86+ naïve, but not single positive memory B cells compared to rhesus macaques.

CD86 is a B cell activation marker which mediates a costimulatory signal through its interaction with CD28, a T cell surface molecule. This signal plays a role in B cell proliferation and antibody production (Jeannin et al. 1997; Sahoo, Rao, and Natarajan 2002). We evaluated the expression of CD86 in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques after stimulating their PBMC with anti-IgM+IgG. The data showed that African green monkeys had higher frequencies of DP memory, naïve and tissue-like B cell expressing CD86. However, only naïve cells showed statistical significance (p<0.0001). In contrast, African green monkeys showed significantly less frequencies of SP CD27+ memory expressing CD86 cells compared to rhesus macaques (p<0.5). African green monkeys and rhesus macaques showed equal frequencies of total B cells expressing CD86, 19% (Figure.10 A). When the frequency of CD86 expressing cells were normalized to unstim by subtracting the frequency of CD86+ cells in unstimulated cells from stimulated cells, African green monkeys kept their significantly higher frequencies of naïve cells expressing CD86, but they had comparable normalized frequency of other subsets compared to rhesus macaques (Figure.10 B).



Figure 11. Expression levels of CD86 in CD86+ total B cells and B cell subsets in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

PBMC of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques were stimulated with anti-IgM/IgG for 48 hours, ustimulated cells of each monkey were used as control. The expression level of CD86 was evaluated by calculating the mean fluorescence intensity of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value $<0.05^*$, or $<0.01^{**}$, or $<0.001^{***}$, or $<0.001^{****}$.

Double positive memory B cells of African green monkeys express higher levels of

CD86 compared to rhesus macaques

The expression of CD86 was further evaluated by calculating the mean fluorescence intensity.

The data showed that the DP CD21+CD27+ memory of African green express higher levels of

CD86 compared to rhesus macaques (p<0.001) (Figure. 11). Higher levels of CD86 expression

were also seen in the total CD20+ B cell. There were no statistically significant differences

among other subsets.



Figure 12. Expression levels of CD40 in total CD20+ B cells and B cell subsets in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

PBMC of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques were stimulated with anti-IgM+IgG for 48 hours. Ustimulated cells of each monkey were used as control. The expression levels of CD40 were evaluated by calculating the mean fluorescence intensity of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.001****.



Figure 13. Expression levels of CD40 in CD40hi of total CD20+ B cell and B cell subsets in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

PBMC of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques were stimulated with anti-IgM+IgG for 48 hours, ustimulated cells of each monkey were used as control. The expression levels of CD40

were evaluated by calculating the mean fluorescence intensity of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.001****.

B cells of African green monkeys express higher levels of CD40.

CD40 is an activation marker expressed by B cells and other types of cells (Schönbeck, Correspondi and Libby 2001). CD40 binds to CD40L (CD154), this interaction plays a role in immunoglobulin class switching, B cell maturation and proliferation (Zan et al. 1998; Xu et al. 1994; Grewal, Xu, and Flavell 1995). To study the expression of CD40, RMs and AGMs PBMC were stimulated with anti-IgM+IgG. The data showed that naïve, DP CD21+CD27+ memory, and SP CD27+ memory cells of AGMs express higher levels of CD40 compared to RMs when mean fluorescence intensity was used as a measure of expression level (p<0.05, p<0.05, p<0.0001 respectively) (Figure. 12). We further evaluated CD40 expression by calculating the MFI of CD40hi cells. We found that naïve, memory, and tissue like memory cells of African green monkeys express higher levels of CD40 compared to rhesus macaques (Figure.13).

In vitro SIV infection has no effect on frequencies and absolute numbers of B cell subsets.

PBMC of AGMs and RMs were stimulated with anti-IgM+IgG and infected with both SIV9063-2 and SIVmac252 separately; stimulated uninfected cells were used as controls. After 48 hours of stimulation and infection, there were no statistically significant changes in frequencies and absolute numbers of total B cells and subsets in both AGMs and RMs (Figure 14, 15).

SIV infection increases the expression of CD40 in both rhesus macaques and African green monkeys.

We evaluated CD86 expression upon *in vitro* SIV infection to detect any alterations the virus may cause. We found that SIV infection has no effect on the frequencies of cells that express CD86 or on the expression levels of CD86 (Figure. 16, 17). We further evaluated the expression levels of CD40. AGMs' total and naïve B cells showed increases in the expression of CD40 upon infection. RMs' B cell subsets also showed increases in CD40 expression (Figure. 18). Overall, the aim of this experiment was to assess SIV-induced dysfunctions in the expression of activation markers. However, 48h of infection were not enough to see such defects. A longer infection period might be needed to evaluate functional defects.



Frequencies of Total B Cell and Subsets in AGM



(A) Frequencies of total B cells and subsets in AGM following three conditions of stimulation, stimulated with anti-IgM/G, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVagm 9063-2, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVmac251. (B) Frequencies of total B cells and subsets in RM following the same conditions of stimulation. The data shown are the means of 3 African green monkeys (AGM) and 3 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Absolute Numbers of Total B Cell and Subsets in AGM





Figure 15. Absolute numbers of total B cells and subsets following *in vitro* SIV infection.

(A) Absolute numbers of total B cells and subsets in AGM following three conditions of stimulation, stimulated with anti-IgM/G, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVagm 9063-2, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVmac251. (B) Absolute numbers of total B cells and subsets in RM following the same conditions of stimulation. The data shown are the means of 3 African green monkeys (AGM) and 3 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value $<0.05^*$, or $<0.01^{**}$, or $<0.001^{***}$, or $<0.0001^{****}$.



Figure 16. Frequencies of CD86+ cells following in vitro SIV infection.

(A) Frequencies of CD86+ of total B cells and subsets in AGM following three conditions of stimulation, stimulated with anti-IgM/G, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVagm 9063-2, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVmac251. (B) Frequencies of CD86+ of total B cells and subsets in RM following the same conditions of stimulation. The data shown are the means of 3 African green monkeys (AGM) and 3 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 17. MFI of CD86 following in vitro SIV infection.

(A) MFI of CD86 in CD86+ cells of total B cells and subsets in AGM following three conditions of stimulation, stimulated with anti-IgM/G, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVagm 9063-2, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVmac251. (B) MFI of CD86 in CD86+ cells of total B cells and subsets in RM following the same conditions of stimulation. The data shown are the means of 3 African green monkeys (AGM) and 3 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value $<0.05^*$, or $<0.01^{**}$, or $<0.001^{***}$, or < 0.0001****.



Figure 18. MFI of CD40 in total B cells and subsets following *in vitro* **SIV infection.** (A) MFI of CD40 in total B cells and subsets in AGM following three conditions of stimulation, stimulated with anti-IgM/G, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVagm 9063-2, stimulated with anti-IgM/G and infected with SIVmac251. (B) MFI of CD40 in total B cells and subsets in RM following the same conditions of stimulation. The data shown are the means of 3 African green monkeys (AGM) and 3 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.

B cells of African green monkeys express higher levels of intracellular signaling

proteins and show higher levels of phosphorylation than rhesus macaques.

AGMs and RMs cells were intracellularly stained for total PLC- γ 2, ERK1, and SYK proteins. The data showed that AGMs had higher percentages of PLC- γ 2hi, and ERK1hi cells than RMs, p<.0.01 (Figures 19A, 20A). Also, these cells showed higher expression levels of PLC- γ 2 and ERK1 as compared to RMs (Figures 19C, 20C). In contrast, there were no statistically significant differences in the percentages of SYKhi cells or the expression level of SYK between AGMs and RMs (Figure 21A, C). In addition, the cells were stimulated with anti-IgM+IgG for 10 minutes; unstimulated cells were used as controls. The cells were intracellularly stained for phosphorylated proteins pPLC- γ 2, pERK1/2, and pSYK. There were no statistically significant differences between AGMs and RMs in the percentages of total B cells or memory B cells that phosphorylated these proteins upon stimulation. However, total B cells of AGMs showed higher expression level of pPLC- γ 2 than RMs, p< 0.01 (Figure 22B). Also, memory B cells of AGMs showed higher expression of pSYK than RMs, p< 0.05 (Figure 22F). There were no statistically significant differences in the expression levels of ERK1/2 between AGMs and RMs (Figure 22D).



Figure 19. Cells of AGMs and RMs were intracellularly stained with anti-PLC-g2.

(A, B) Frequencies of PLC-g2hi and PLC-g2low cells based on flow cytometric gating. (C, D) The Mean fluorescence Intensity (MFI) was calculated for PLC-g2 in of PLC-g2hi and PLC-g2low Cells. The data shown are the means of 5 African green monkeys (AGM) and 5 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001***.



Figure 20. Cells of AGMs and RMs were intracellularly stained with anti-ERK1.

(A, B) Frequencies of ERK1hi and ERK1low cells based on flow cytometric gating. (C, D) The Mean fluorescence Intensity (MFI) was calculated for ERK1 in of ERK1hi and ERK1low Cells. The data shown are the means of 5 African green monkeys (AGM) and 5 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 21. Cells of AGMs and RMs were intracellularly stained with anti-SYK.

(A, B) Frequencies of SYKhi and SYKlow cells based on flow cytometric gating. (C, D) The Mean fluorescence Intensity (MFI) was calculated for SYK in SYKhi and SYKlow Cells. The data shown are the means of 5 African green monkeys (AGM) and 5 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 22. Frequencies and MFI of phosphorylated intracellular proteins.

AGM and RM cells were stimulated with anti-IgM+IgG for 10 minutes; unstimulated cells were used as controls. The cells were intracellularly stained for phosphorylated proteins pPLC- γ 2, pERK1/2, and pSYK. (A, C, E) frequencies of cells that showed expression of phosphorylated intracellular proteins. (B, D, F) MFI of phosphorylated intracellular proteins.



Figure 23. Frequencies and absolute numbers of T cells in the peripheral blood of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

African green monkeys and rhesus macaques had comparable total T cells in terms of frequencies (A) and absolute numbers (B). Absolute numbers of T cells were calculated based on flow cytometry and complete blood counts. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001****.



Figure 24. Frequencies and absolute numbers of CD4+ and DN T cells in the peripheral blood of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

African green monkeys had significantly fewer frequencies of CD4+ as compared to rhesus macaques, but frequencies of DN (double negative) were comparable in the two species (A). Similar results were found in term of absolute numbers (B). Absolute numbers of CD4+ and DN cells were calculated based on flow cytometry and complete blood counts. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01***, or <0.001***.

African green monkeys have fewer CD4 T cells than rhesus macaques

The data showed that AGMs and RMs had comparable percentages and absolute numbers of T cells (Figure 23 A, B). However, AGMs had significantly fewer CD4+ T cells than RMs in terms of frequencies and absolute numbers, p<0.0001, p<0.01 respectively (Figure 24 A, B). This result is consistent with previous published data (Pandrea et al. 2007). The frequencies and absolute numbers of DN were comparable in AGM and RMs (Figure 24 A, B).



Figure 25. Frequencies and absolute numbers of CD4⁺ T cell subsets in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

The CD4+ T cells were classified into subsets based on the expression of CD28 and CD95, naïve (CD28lo, CD95-), central memory CM (CD28hi, CD95+), and effector memory (EM) (CD28-, CD95+). No significant differences found in CD4+ T cell subsets between AGM and RM in terms of frequencies (A). However, their subsets differ in terms of absolute numbers (B) Absolute numbers of CD4+ T cell subsets were calculated based on the flow cytometry and complete blood counts as count per microliter of whole blood. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01***, or <0.001***.



Figure 26. Frequencies and absolute numbers of DN T cell subsets in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

The DN T cells were classified into subsets based on the expression of CD28 and CD95, naïve (CD28lo, CD95-), central memory CM (CD28hi, CD95+), and effector memory (EM) (CD28-, CD95+). DN T cell subsets differ between AGM and RM in terms of frequencies (A), and absolute numbers (B). Absolute numbers of DN T cell subsets were calculated based on the flow cytometry and complete blood counts as count per microliter of whole blood. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01***, or <0.001****.

T cell subsets differ between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques

CD4+ and DN T cells were further analyzed for subsets, naïve, CM, and EM. The data showed that AGMs and RMs had comparable frequencies of CD4+ T cell subsets. However, there were significant differences in the absolute numbers of naïve, CM, and EM where AGMs had fewer than RMs, p<0.05, p<0.05, p<0.01 respectively (Figure. 25). For DN T cell subsets the data showed that AGMs had significantly fewer DN naïve cells in terms of frequencies and absolute numbers, p<0.01, p<0.05 respectively (Figure. 26). In contrast, AGMs had higher DN CM in term of frequencies and absolute numbers, but differences were only significant in frequencies, p<0.01 (Figure. 26). There were no statistically significant differences in the frequencies and absolute number of DN EM.



Figure 27. Expression levels of CD3 on the surface of T cells.

The expression level was evaluated by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity in total, CD4+, and DN T cells of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. (A) Unstimulated cells. (B) Cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and Ionomycin (PMA/I) for 6 hours. (C) The MFI ratio was calculated, MFI ratio= MFI of unstimulated cells/MFI of stimulated cells.

The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001***.



Figure 28. Expression levels of CD3 on the surface of CD4+ T cell subsets.

The expression level was evaluated by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity in CD4+ subsets of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. (A) Unstimulated cells. (B) Cells were

stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and Ionomycin (PMA/I) for 6 hours. (C) The MFI ratio was calculated, ratio= MFI of unstimulated cells/MFI of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.001***.



Figure 29. Expression levels of CD3 on the surface of DN T cell subsets.

The expression level was evaluated by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity in DN subsets of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. (A) Unstimulated cells. (B) Cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and Ionomycin (PMA/I) for 6 hours. (C) The MFI ratio was calculated, ratio= MFI of unstimulated cells/MFI of stimulated cells. The data

shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.

T cells of African green monkeys express lower levels of CD3 than rhesus macaques The relative expression of CD3 on the surface of T cells was evaluated by the mean fluorescence intensity. In unstimulated cells AGMs expressed lower levels of CD3 on total, and CD4+ T cells than rhesus macaques (Figure 27, A). The differences were considered significant p<0.01, p<0.05 respectively. The cells were stimulated with PMA/I for 6 hours. Again AGMs showed significantly lower expression of CD3 on total, CD4+, and DN T cells than RMs, p<0.05, p<0.05, p<0.001 respectively (Figure.27, B). The MFI ratio was calculated by dividing MFI of unstimulated cells by that of stimulated cells. The differences in ratios were significant only in DN T cells, which indicate that AGMs downregulated CD3 expression upon stimulation by DN T cells in a greater extent than RMs (Figure.27, C). We further analyzed the expression of CD3 on the subsets of CD4+, and DN T cells (Figure 28 and 29). We found that CD4+ CM, and EM T cells of AGMs express lower levels of CD3 than RMs, p<0.0001, p<0.05 respectively (Figure 26, A). Upon stimulation with PMA/I, all the subsets CD4+ naïve, CM, and EM of AGMs express lower levels of CD3 than RMs, p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.001 respectively (Figure 28, B). The differences in ratios were significant only in CD4+ naïve T cells when AGMs had higher ratio than RMs (Figure 28, C). Unexpectedly, the DN naïve T cells of AGMs expressed higher levels of CD3 than RMs, p<0.05 (Figure 29, A). Upon stimulation with PMA/I, all the subsets DN naïve, CM, and EM of AGMs showed lower levels of CD3 expression than RMs, p<0.0001, p<0.01, p<0.05 respectively (Figure 29, B). The ratios were significantly higher in AGMs than RMs, p<0.0001, p<0.05, p<0.01 respectively (Figure 29, C). This indicates that DN T cell

subsets of AGMs downregulated CD3 upon stimulation in a greater extent than RMs, which was shown in the total DN as well.





The expression level was evaluated by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity in total CD4+ and subsets of African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. (A) Unstimulated cells. (B) Cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and Ionomycin (PMA/I) for 6 hours. (C) The MFI ratio was calculated, ratio= MFI of unstimulated cells/MFI of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (s) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.
Central memory T cells of AGM showed decreases in the expression of CD4 upon PMA/I stimulation but not in rhesus macaques

We compared the expression levels of CD4 by total CD4+ T cells and subsets in African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. In unstimulated cells, we found that central memory T cells of African green monkeys express significantly lower levels of CD4 compared to rhesus macaques p<0.0001, while there were no significant differences in the total and other subsets. However, upon stimulation with PMA/I, central memory cells of African green monkeys downregulated the expression of CD4 (Figure. 30). Upon stimulation only total CD4+ T cells showed a significant higher expression of CD4 in African green monkeys compared to rhesus macaques p<0.05. When we calculated the ratio of CD4 MFI by subtracting the MFI of stimulated cells from unstimulated cells, only the ratio of central memory cells showed statistically significant when AGMs had lower ratio than RMs p<0.05 (Figure. 30C).



Figure 31. Frequencies of CD25+ and the expression levels in total CD4+, DN and subsets. There were no statistically significance differences between AGM and RM in the frequencies of CD25+ T cells (A, B), or the expression levels as measured by the mean fluorescence intensity (C, D). The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 32. Frequencies of CD154+ and the expression levels in total CD4+, DN and subsets. There were no statistically significance differences between AGM and RM in the frequencies of CD154+ T cells (A, B). There were no statistically significance in the expression levels of CD154 as measured by the mean fluorescence intensity except in DN EM T cells (C, D). The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.

There are no differences in the frequencies of activated T cells and the expression of

activation markers between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

The activation markers CD25 and CD154 were evaluated by the frequencies of cells expressing

these markers and the expression levels in these cells. These parameters were evaluated in total

CD4+, DN T cells, and subsets. We did not find any statistically significance differences in these parameters between AGMs and RMs except for DN EM T cells, where AGMs had higher expression of CD154 on these cells than RMs (Figures 31, 32).

There are no differences in the expression of CD95 and CD28 between African green monkeys and rhesus macaques.

CD95 is a surface marker that is used to identify effector and central memory T cells. The level of CD95 was evaluated on the surface of these cells in both CD4+ and DN T cells. The data showed no statistically significant differences between AGMs and RMs (figure 33. A, B). However, when the cells were stimulated with PMA/I for 6 hours the DN EM and CM of RMs downregulated the expression of CD95, which mad the differences between the two species significant (figure 33. C, D). When the ratios of CD95 MFI were calculated, there were no statistical significance differences between AGMs and RMs (figure 33. E, F). CD28 is a surface marker that identifies naïve and central memory T cells. The expression levels of CD28 were evaluated in AGMs and RMs. The data showed no statistically significance differences in the expression of CD28 on the surface of naïve and central memory of both CD4+ and T cells (Figure. 34).



Figure 33. Expression levels of CD95 on the surface of effector and central memory T cells.

The expression levels were evaluated by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity in effector and central memory of each DN and CD4+ T cells in both African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. (A) Unstimulated CD4+ EM and CM T cells. (B) Unstimulated DN EM and CM T cells. (C, D) Cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and Ionomycin (PMA/I) for 6 hours. (E, F) The MFI ratio was calculated, ratio= MFI of unstimulated cells/MFI of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (AGM) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****



Figure 34. Expression levels of CD28 on the surface of naive and central memory T cells.

The expression levels were evaluated by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity in naive and central memory of each DN and CD4+ T cells in both African green monkeys and rhesus macaques. (A) Unstimulated CD4+ Naive and CM T cells. (B) Unstimulated DN Naive and CM T cells. (C, D) Cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and Ionomycin (PMA/I) for 6 hours. (E, F) The MFI ratio was calculated, ratio= MFI of unstimulated cells/MFI of stimulated cells. The data shown are the means of 12 African green monkeys (s) and 12 rhesus macaques (RM). p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.

T cells of African green monkeys showed less production of cytokines and less multifunctionality than rhesus macaques

AGM showed significantly lower frequencies of CD4 T cells that express CD107a, or produce IFNy, p <0.05 (Figure 35A, B). Similar patterns were found in the different subsets of CD4 T cells (Figure. 36). However, AGMs showed higher frequencies of DN T cells expressing CD107a., p <0.05. This pattern was consistent in the different DN T cell subsets as well (Figure 37C). The expression levels of CD107a by DN T cells were higher in AGMs as well, p < 0.05(Figure 35D). The expression levels of TNFa were higher in RMs by both CD4 and DN T cells, p <0.05, p <0.01 respectively (Figure 35B, D). For multifunctional T cells in total CD4, RMs showed higher percentages of cells with CD107a+IFNy+IL2+TNf α +, CD107a+IFNy+TNF α +, IFN χ +TNF α + (Figure 37). CD4 effector cells of RMs showed the same pattern in addition to significantly higher frequencies of IFNy+IL2+TNF α + as compared to AGMs (Figure 38). CD4 EM T cells producing IFNy+IL-2+TNF α +, IFNy+TNF α + were significantly higher in RMs than AGMs (Figure. 49). CD4 CM T cells producing IFNy+IL-2+TNF α + were higher in RMs as well (Figure. 40). Overall, CD4 T cells and subsets showed significantly less cytokines producing and multifunctionality in AGMs than RMs. The only higher multifuctionality AGMs showed was in DN T cells producing FNy and expressing CD107a (Figure. 42).



Figure 35. CD4 and DN T cells producing cytokines and expressing CD107a.

(A) Frequencies of CD4 producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (B) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in CD4 T cells of AGM and RM. (C) Frequencies of DN producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (D) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in DN T cells of AGM and RM. The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 36. CD4 T cell subsets producing cytokines and expressing CD107a.

(A) Frequencies of CD4 naïve T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (B) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in CD4 naïve T cells of AGM and RM. (C) Frequencies of CD4 effector cells T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (D) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in CD4 effector T cells of AGM and RM. (E) Frequencies of CD4 effector memory T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (F) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in CD4 effector memory T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (G) Frequencies of CD4 central memory T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (G) Frequencies of CD4 central memory T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in CD4 central memory T cells of AGM and RM. (H) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in CD4 central memory T cells of AGM and RM. The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.





CD107aTNFα

0.19

0.40

2.00

0.00

AGM

■ RM

IFNy IL-2

0.19

0.48

IFNγTNFα

0.33

1.95

IL-2TNFa

4.37

5.33

0.60

0.40

0.20

0.00

AGM

RM

T

CD107aIFN_γ

0.14

0.65

CD107aIL-2

0.09

0.15

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 38. Frequencies of CD4 effector T cells with different combination of functions include: secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a.

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value $<0.05^{*}$, or $<0.01^{**}$, or $<0.001^{***}$, or $<0.001^{****}$.



Figure 39. Frequencies of CD4 effector memory T cells with different combination of functions include: secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a.

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.001****.



Figure 40. . Frequencies of CD4 central memory T cells with different combination of functions include: secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a.

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.001****.









F MFI of Cytokines and Degranulation Marker in DN EM Cells



H MFI of Cytokines and Degranulation Marker in DN CM Cells



Figure 41. DN T cell subsets producing cytokines and expressing CD107a.

(A) Frequencies of DN naïve T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (B) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in DN naïve T cells of AGM and RM. (C) Frequencies of CD4 effector cells T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (D) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in CD4 effector T cells of AGM and RM. (E) Frequencies of DN effector memory T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (F) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in DN effector memory T cells of AGM and RM. (G) Frequencies of DN central memory T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (G) Frequencies of DN central memory T cells producing IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, or expressing CD107a in AGM and RM. (H) MFI of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and CD107a in DN central memory T cells of AGM and RM. The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 42. Frequencies of total DN T cells with different combination of functions include: secretion of IFNy, TNF α , IL-2, and expression of CD107a.

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 43. Frequencies of DN effector T cells with different combination of functions include: secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a.

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****.



Figure 44. Frequencies of DN effector memory T cells with different combination of functions include: secretion of IFNγ, TNFα, IL-2, and expression of CD107a.

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value $<0.05^{*}$, or $<0.01^{**}$, or $<0.001^{***}$, or $<0.001^{****}$.





Figure 45. Frequencies of DN effector memory T cells with different combination of functions include: secretion of IFNy, TNFa, IL-2, and expression of CD107a.

The data shown are the means of 8 African green monkeys (AGM) and 9 rhesus macaques (RM). The data was considered significant if the p value $<0.05^{*}$, or $<0.01^{**}$, or $<0.001^{***}$, or $<0.0001^{****}$.

CHAPTER IV: DISCUSSION

B cells play an important role in controlling infections by producing antibodies. Activation of B cells to produce protective antibodies requires signals through BCR and co-stimulatory signals provided by T helper cells. The important role of both B and T helper cells have been also emphasized in controlling one of the most serious infections, HIV infection, when the Thai RV144, the only vaccine trial that showed partial efficacy revealed that recipients showed strong CD4+ T cell response and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (Rerks-Ngarm et al. 2009). In order to understand the protective immune mechanisms against HIV, non-human primates are widely used due to their biological and physiological similarities to humans. Moreover, they get infected with some pathogens that infect humans and show similar pathogenesis. Rhesus macaques (RMs) develop immunodeficiency syndromes similar to humans when they get infected with SIV. In contrast, African green monkeys (AGMs) are resistant to developing AIDS despite their chronic viremia. Studies have shown that AGMs had high titers of neutralizing antibodies (Gicheru et al. 1999), which also may play a role in the rarity of motherinfant virus transmissions via lactation (Wilks et al. 2011) as compared to RMs. This emphasizes the importance of the humoral response and the helper role of CD4+ T cells. In this study, we hypothesized that there are intrinsic differences between AGMs and RMs that are present in the absence of the infection and play a role in the apathogenic nature of SIV infections in AGMs compared to RMs. To explore these differences, we studied different B and T cell parameters in uninfected AGMs and RMs. We explored any variation in the distribution of B and T cell subsets and the expression of activation markers. Furthermore, we investigated T cell cytokine production patterns to identify any functional differences. Additionally, we assessed the activation of B cells by evaluating the phosphorylation of intracellular signaling proteins (plcg2,

ERK1/2, Syk) that function in Ig signaling pathways and play a role in B cell activation and antibody production.

AGMs are characterized by lower counts of lymphocytes compared to RMs. Herein we compared the frequency and the absolute number of T and B cells in these two species. We found that AGMs had fewer total B cells compared to RMs and the differences were statistically significant (Figure. 8). The mean frequency of AGMs B cells is around 50% lower than RMs, while the mean absolute number is around 30 % lower than RMs. Amos et al showed that AGMs had fewer CD20+ B cells than RMs (Amos et al. 2013). However, we did not find statistically significant differences in either the frequency or the absolute number of T cells between AGMs and RMs (Figure. 23). When we further investigated the frequencies and absolute numbers of CD4, and DN T cells, we found that AGMs had statistically significant lower frequencies and absolute numbers of CD4 T cells than RMs (Figure. 24). This is consistent with previous reports that showed that AGMs have fewer CD4 T cells than RMs (Pandrea et al. 2007). However, there were no significant differences in DN T cells (Figure. 24), although studies have shown that AGMs had higher frequencies of DN T cells than RMs (Vinton et al. 2011). Some researchers argue that the low counts of CD4 T cells in AGMs might be a mechanism behind the AGMs resistance to developing simian immunodeficiency syndrome due to the limitation of target cells (Pandrea et al. 2007). However, based on our results AGMs have lower counts of other cells such as B cells. This may indicates a general paucity of immune cells in AGMs. We further investigated B cell subsets in these models. AGMs showed lower absolute numbers of all subsets (Figure. 9, B). This might be due to the general lower total B cell absolute numbers that AGM had compared to RMs. In terms of frequencies, the only significant difference was in DP memory B cells (Figure. 9, A). These cells are identified as resting memory cells (Susan

Moir et al. 2008; Titanji et al. 2010). However, Das et al showed that these cells are highly activated and had high proliferation and immunoglobulin secretion rates (Das et al. 2011). They also stated that these cells might have a role in SIV infection by maintaining a functional memory B cell subset since they had a high turnover rate (Das et al. 2011). In our study we showed that these cells had a higher percentage of CD86+ (Figure. 10, A), and higher expression levels of CD86 (Figure. 11) and CD40 (Figure. 12) than SP memory cells which are known as activated memory B cells. These data support the study mentioned above by showing that DP memory B cells, which are commonly known as resting memory are highly activated. Naïve B cells of AGMs showed a high percentage of CD86+ cells compared to RMs (Figure. 10, A). This may indicate that AGMs naïve cells have a higher potential to get activated, proliferate and differentiate to memory cells upon antigen stimulation than in RMs. In contrast, the SP memory B cells of AGMs showed significantly lower percentage of CD86+ compared to RMs (Figure. 10, A). However, AGMs showed higher expression of CD40 by naïve, SP, and DP memory B cells than RMs (Figure. 12). CD40/ CD40 ligand interaction is critical for antibody class switching and antiviral humoral responses (Borrow et al. 1996). Also, activation of B cells via CD40 is essential for antigen-specific antibody production (Nonoyama et al. 1993). In addition, blocking CD40/CD40L interaction by anti-CD40L had resulted in a decrease of antibody producing B cells (Huang et al. 2002). The higher expression of CD40 by AGMs may help in a better humoral response as compared to RMs.

In order to study the effects of SIV infection on B cell subsets and the expression of activation markers, we did *in vitro* SIV infection of AGMs and RMs cells. The cells from each species were stimulated with anti-IgM/G and were infected with both SIVmac251 and SIVagm9063-2 separately. We did this to see if the species specific strain has the same effect as a heterologous

strain. We found that SIV infection has no effect in frequencies and absolute numbers of B cell subsets (Figures14, 15). When we evaluated CD86 and CD40 following SIV infection, we found that both viruses increased cell activation in both species. We did not find distinct patterns of alterations of activation markers expression between the two species (Figures 16, 17, 18). Detecting of pathogenic effects of SIV infection on the expression of activation markers might be not detected in this experiment. This might be because of the short infection period, 48hours, and such defects might need longer period of infection. Also, in this experiment we added the stimulus and the virus at the same time. Infecting the cells first and then testing their ability to response to stimulus might be a better approach to detect the effect of the infection on activation markers expression.

For T cell analysis, we further analyzed CD4+ and DN T cells for subsets and the expression of activation markers. We did not find any statistically significant differences in frequencies of CD4 T cell subsets, naïve, central memory, and effector memory (Figure 25A). However, in terms of absolute numbers, AGMs showed significantly lower absolute numbers of the three subsets (Figure 25B). This might be a result of general lower absolute numbers of total CD4 in AGMs. For DN T cell subsets, AGMs showed significantly fewer DN naïve cells in terms of frequencies and absolute numbers (Figure 25). In contrast, AGMs had significantly more DN central memory cells as compared to RMs (Figure 26). The differences were significant in terms of frequencies but it did not reach statistical significance in terms of absolute numbers. This is consistent with previous reports showed that DN T cells are predominantly memory cells in contrast to CD4 T cells which comprised naïve and memory cells (Vinton et al. 2011; Milush et al. 2011). It is found that DN T cells in SIV natural host such as AGMs and sooty managabeys (SMs) are characterized by helper function and production of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cytokines (Milush et al.

2011; Beaumier et al. 2009). Also, it is found that CD4 T cells of AGMs downregulate CD4 at the memory stage, which turn them to SIV resistant cells (Beaumier et al. 2009). Milush et al found that SM had high frequencies of DN T cells in lymph nodes, bronchoalveolar lavage, and rectum; upon SIV infection DN frequencies increased in these sites (Milush et al. 2011). Also, they found that DN T cells kept central memory phenotype during the infection. Based on that, they hypothesized that these are CD4 and/or CD8 T cells downregulated their markers upon interactions with antigens. In our study, we found that these cells downregulate CD3 as well upon stimulation in a greater extent as compared to RMs (Figure 27). In the Milush et al study, they also found that SIV-infected SM were able to produce protective antibodies upon influenza vaccination despite the low CD4 T cells count during SIV infection. As a result, they hypothesized that DN T cells compensate CD4 T cells loss during SIV infection by providing helper functions (Milush et al. 2011). In this study, we found that DN EM express significantly higher level of CD154 upon stimulation as compared to RMs (Figure 32), which might indicate the helper function of these cells and their role in B cells activation and humoral response. In addition, we found that DN EM and CM express higher level of CD95 upon stimulation as compared to RMs (Figure 33). Further investigation is needed to determine whether this elevated expression indicates that these cells are more susceptible to Fas-FasL mediated apoptosis, or indicates their cytotoxic ability to induce apoptosis to other cells. Also, whether this elevation is a transient acute upon stimulation or persistent needs to be elucidated. Multifunctional T cells are used to evaluate the quality of T cell responses following vaccination. Also, studies showed that long-term non-progressors had higher frequencies of CD4+IFNγ+TNFα+IL-2+ or CD4+IL-2+IFNγ+ cells than progressors who had higher

frequencies of cells producing IFNy only (Seder, Darrah, and Roederer 2008; Kannanganat et al.

2007). In addition, CD107a is used as a marker of degranulation and the ability of T cells to immediate cytolytic activity by releasing perforin and granzymes (Seder, Darrah, and Roederer 2008). As a result, adding CD107a to the panel we used in our study gave us the ability to assess additional function of T cells. We stimulated PBMC with mass stimulator, PMA/I, which stimulate T cells by passing the TCR receptor. We are assuming that the results we got by using PMA/I will gave us a clue about the potentiality of T cell responses upon encountering specific antigens.

We found that CD4 T cells of AGMs showed lower frequencies of cells producing IFNy and expressing CD107a as compared to RMs (Figure 35). The pattern was similar in the different subset of CD4 T cells: naïve, effector cells, effector memory, and central memory of AGMs (Figure 36). Also the MFI of TNFa in total CD4 and DN were lower in AGMs as compared to RMs (Figure 35); similar patterns were found in different T cell subsets (Figures 36, 41). We further assessed the mutlifunctionality of T cells. We found that AGM had lower frequencies of CD4T cells that produce more than one cytokine as compared to RMs (Figure 37). Although we hypothesized that AGMs will show a stronger immediate response in terms of cytokines secretion. Our results did not support this hypothesis. There is a study that showed AGMs had an immediate anti-inflammatory response when were compared to RMs (Kornfeld et al. 2005). AGM showed higher level of IL-10 and TGF- β (Kornfeld et al. 2005). Our results may indicate that CD4 T cells of AGM have the potentiality of an immediate different function rather than pro-inflammatory response. Further investigation of IL-10, TGF-β, and the frequencies of T-reg will give a clear picture of the nature of AGMs' T cells response. Also, repeating the experiment with specific antigens is needed to define antigen specific responses. In addition, investigating IL-4 secretion will give us information about the T helper role for B cells and antibody

production. Although RMs showed higher frequencies of multifunctional T cells, the challenge is to produce SIV specific multifunctional T cells, which most of progressors fail to do. Also, despite that multifunctional T cells seem to play a role in controlling HIV/SIV infection in humans and RMs non-progressors, the same mechanism is not necessary to be used by AGMs. Interestingly, AGMs control the infection in a different phenomenon. While human and RMs non-progressors characterized by low undetectable viral loads, AGMs have similar viral loads as progressors but they are disease free. Furthermore, the lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion by AGMs explain why these monkeys do not develop chronic immune activation following SIV infection. However, AGMs showed higher percentages of DN T cells expressing CD107a than RMs (Figure 35). This pattern was consistent in the different DN subsets as well (Figure 41). Also, CD107a MFI were higher in total DN and EM cells of AGMs than RMs (Figures 35, 41). In addition, DN T cells of AGMs showed higher frequencies of CD107a+IFNy+ cells (Figure 42). This may indicate the cytotoxic function of DN T cells in addition to the helper functions. Furthermore, there is a study that showed CD107a+, and CD107a+ FNy+ CD4 T cells produced upon experimental SIV vaccine are resistant to depletion following SIV infection (Terahara et al. 2014). Although RMs in our study showed higher frequencies of CD4+CD107a+ and CD4+CD107a+IFNy+, the published studies mentioned that there is no correlation between the levels of these cells prior the vaccination and the development of SIV specific CD4 CD107a+, and CD4 CD107a+IFNy+ following the vaccination. More studies are needed to compare the ability of both AGMs and RMs to develop SIV specific CD4 CD107a+, and CD4 CD107a+IFNy+ cells. On the other hand, since our results showed that AGMs had higher percentages of DN CD107a+, and DN CD107a+IFNy+, this may indicate another mechanism by which DN T cells are resistant to SIV infection.

B cell activation and proliferation require signaling cascades that are initiated through antigen-BCR interaction, and additional signals provided by cytokines and T helper cells. The interaction of the antigen and the BCR triggers phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tails of BCR, ITAMS, which results in phosphorylation of SYK. SYK phosphorylates BLNK, which recruits PLC γ 2 that phosphorylate extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK). Each one of these signaling proteins plays important roles in B cell development and activation. SYK is essential for B cells clonal expansion, differentiation and maturation (Cheng et al. 1995). PLC γ 2 is required for antibody production. Mice deficient in PLC γ 2 showed impairments in B cell proliferation and antibody production (Wang et al. 2000). Also, HIV envelope proteins showed an inhibition effect of PLC γ 2, which may contribute to B cell pathogenesis during HIV infection (Cefai et al. 1990). The expression of PLCg2 gene was higher in B cells with stronger antibody response (Kasturi et al. 2011). ERK signaling is essential for differentiation of pro-B cells into pre-B cells and subsequent proliferation, development and activation (Gold 2008).

Activation of T cells also requires signaling cascades initiated by antigen-TCR interaction and costimulatory signals provided by antigen presenting cells. Bostik et al compared between the phosphorylation of signaling proteins in CD4 T cells of humans, RMs, and SMs, a natural host of SIV (Bostik et al. 2001). Their results showed that while humans and RMs T cells required both signals (signal through TCR and costimulatory signal), T cells from SM were able to get activated and produce IL-2 by receiving a signal through TCR only, and they were resistant to immune anergy. Also, SM's CD4 T cells showed higher amount of phosphorylated ERK compared to T cells from humans and RMs (Bostik et al. 2001). This study showed differences in the TCR signaling of CD4 T cells between RMs and SMs, which is a possible mechanism of avoiding SIV pathogenesis. Since B cells of AGMs are resistant to SIV induced dysfunction, we

wanted to elucidate any differences in the concentrations of intracellular signaling proteins and their phosphorylation between AGMs and RMs. We found that AGMs express higher levels of signaling key proteins, PLCg2, ERK1, and SYK than RMs (Figures 19, 20, 21). Also, when the cells were stimulated with anti-IgM/G, the cells of AGM showed higher expression of phosphorylated PLCg2 and SYK than RMs (Figure 22). This may indicate the possibility that the B cells of AGMs have lower co-stimulatory signal requirements than RMs, similar to the mechanism mentioned by Bostik regarding SM T cells. Further investigation of the effect of different stimulation conditions on B cells signaling proteins phosphorylation, activation, and function between RMs and AGMs will help to elucidate any differences in BCR signaling between the two species.

In conclusion, this study has identified inherent functional and phenotypic differences of B and T helper cells between the two species, which may contribute to distinct immune responses following SIV infection. AGMs B cells showed characteristics of lower activation thresholds than RMs by expressing higher levels of CD80 and CD40. Furthermore, AGMs B cells showed higher expression levels of total and phosphorylated signaling intracellular proteins, which may indicate lower co-stimulatory signal requirements compared to RMs. This might be a mechanism for an early antibody response to control the infection. In addition, the low levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion may indicate anti-inflammatory responses and explains the lack of chronic immune activation in AGMs. DN T cells in AGMs are characterized by T helper functions. In our study, these cells showed higher expression levels of CD107a as compared to DN T cells of RMs, which may indicate their cytotoxic function. The multifunctionality of these cells in addition to their resistance to SIV may give insights into new cellular therapeutic approaches.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ahmed, R, L D Butler, and L Bhatti. 1988. "T4+ T Helper Cell Function in Vivo: Differential Requirement for Induction of Antiviral Cytotoxic T-Cell and Antibody Responses." *Journal* of Virology 62 (6): 2102–6. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=253304&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract.
- Alter, Galit, Jessica M Malenfant, and Marcus Altfeld. 2004. "CD107a as a Functional Marker for the Identification of Natural Killer Cell Activity." *Journal of Immunological Methods* 294 (1-2): 15–22. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2004.08.008.
- Amos, Joshua D, Andrew B Wilks, Genevieve G Fouda, Shannon D Smith, Lisa Colvin, Tatenda Mahlokozera, Carrie Ho, et al. 2013. "Lack of B Cell Dysfunction Is Associated with Functional, gp120-Dominant Antibody Responses in Breast Milk of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected African Green Monkeys." *Journal of Virology* 87 (20): 11121–34. doi:10.1128/JVI.01887-13.
- Bachmann, M F, M Barner, A Viola, and M Kopf. 1999. "Distinct Kinetics of Cytokine Production and Cytolysis in Effector and Memory T Cells after Viral Infection." *European Journal of Immunology* 29 (1): 291–99. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199901)29:01<291::AID-IMMU291>3.0.CO;2-K.
- Baum, L L, K J Cassutt, K Knigge, R Khattri, J Margolick, C Rinaldo, C A Kleeberger, P Nishanian, D R Henrard, and J Phair. 1996. "HIV-1 gp120-Specific Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity Correlates with Rate of Disease Progression." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 157 (5): 2168–73. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8757343.
- Beaumier, Coreen M, Levelle D Harris, Simoy Goldstein, Nichole R Klatt, Sonya Whitted, John McGinty, Cristian Apetrei, Ivona Pandrea, Vanessa M Hirsch, and Jason M Brenchley. 2009. "CD4 Downregulation by Memory CD4+ T Cells in Vivo Renders African Green Monkeys Resistant to Progressive SIVagm Infection." *Nature Medicine* 15 (8): 879–85. doi:10.1038/nm.1970.
- Bonsignori, Mattia, Justin Pollara, M Anthony Moody, Michael D Alpert, Xi Chen, Kwan-Ki Hwang, Peter B Gilbert, et al. 2012. "Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity-Mediating Antibodies from an HIV-1 Vaccine Efficacy Trial Target Multiple Epitopes and Preferentially Use the VH1 Gene Family." *Journal of Virology* 86 (21): 11521–32. doi:10.1128/JVI.01023-12.

Borrow, P, A Tishon, S Lee, J Xu, I S Grewal, M B Oldstone, and R A Flavell. 1996. "CD40L-

Deficient Mice Show Deficits in Antiviral Immunity and Have an Impaired Memory CD8+ CTL Response." *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 183 (5): 2129–42. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2192549&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.

- Bostik, P., A. E. Mayne, F. Villinger, K. P. Greenberg, J. D. Powell, and A. A. Ansari. 2001.
 "Relative Resistance in the Development of T Cell Anergy in CD4+ T Cells from Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Disease-Resistant Sooty Mangabeys." *The Journal of Immunology* 166 (1). American Association of Immunologists: 506–16. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.1.506.
- Burton, Dennis R, Robyn L Stanfield, and Ian A Wilson. 2005. "Antibody vs. HIV in a Clash of Evolutionary Titans." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America 102 (42): 14943–48. doi:10.1073/pnas.0505126102.
- Capuano, S. V., D. A. Croix, S. Pawar, A. Zinovik, A. Myers, P. L. Lin, S. Bissel, C. Fuhrman, E. Klein, and J. L. Flynn. 2003. "Experimental Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection of Cynomolgus Macaques Closely Resembles the Various Manifestations of Human M. Tuberculosis Infection." *Infection and Immunity* 71 (10): 5831–44. doi:10.1128/IAI.71.10.5831-5844.2003.
- Cefai, D, P Debre, M Kaczorek, T Idziorek, B Autran, and G Bismuth. 1990. "Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Glycoproteins gp120 and gp160 Specifically Inhibit the CD3/T Cell-Antigen Receptor Phosphoinositide Transduction Pathway." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 86 (6): 2117–24. doi:10.1172/JCI114950.
- Cheng, A M, B Rowley, W Pao, A Hayday, J B Bolen, and T Pawson. 1995. "Syk Tyrosine Kinase Required for Mouse Viability and B-Cell Development." *Nature* 378 (6554): 303–6. doi:10.1038/378303a0.
- Conge, A M, K Tarte, J Reynes, M Segondy, J Gerfaux, M Zembala, and J P Vendrell. 1998.
 "Impairment of B-Lymphocyte Differentiation Induced by Dual Triggering of the B-Cell Antigen Receptor and CD40 in Advanced HIV-1-Disease." *AIDS (London, England)* 12 (12): 1437–49. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9727564.
- Croft, M, L M Bradley, and S L Swain. 1994. "Naive versus Memory CD4 T Cell Response to Antigen. Memory Cells Are Less Dependent on Accessory Cell Costimulation and Can Respond to Many Antigen-Presenting Cell Types Including Resting B Cells." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 152 (6): 2675–85. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7908301.

Dagur, Pradeep K, and J Philip McCoy. 2015. "Collection, Storage, and Preparation of Human

Blood Cells." *Current Protocols in Cytometry / Editorial Board, J. Paul Robinson, Managing Editor ... [et Al.]* 73 (January): 5.1.1–5.1.16. doi:10.1002/0471142956.cy0501s73.

- Das, Arpita, Huanbin Xu, Xiaolei Wang, Canddy L Yau, Ronald S Veazey, and Bapi Pahar.
 2011. "Double-Positive CD21+CD27+ B Cells Are Highly Proliferating Memory Cells and Their Distribution Differs in Mucosal and Peripheral Tissues." *PloS One* 6 (1). Public Library of Science: e16524. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016524.
- Doria-Rose, Nicole A, Rachel M Klein, Maura M Manion, Sijy O'Dell, Adhuna Phogat, Bimal Chakrabarti, Claire W Hallahan, et al. 2009. "Frequency and Phenotype of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Envelope-Specific B Cells from Patients with Broadly Cross-Neutralizing Antibodies." *Journal of Virology* 83 (1): 188–99. doi:10.1128/JVI.01583-08.
- Estes, Jacob D, Shari N Gordon, Ming Zeng, Ann M Chahroudi, Richard M Dunham, Silvija I Staprans, Cavan S Reilly, Guido Silvestri, and Ashley T Haase. 2008. "Early Resolution of Acute Immune Activation and Induction of PD-1 in SIV-Infected Sooty Mangabeys Distinguishes Nonpathogenic from Pathogenic Infection in Rhesus Macaques." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 180 (10): 6798–6807. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2596686&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- Flynn, J.L., S.V. Capuano, D. Croix, S. Pawar, A. Myers, A. Zinovik, and E. Klein. 2003. "Non-Human Primates: A Model for Tuberculosis Research." *Tuberculosis* 83 (1-3): 116–18. doi:10.1016/S1472-9792(02)00059-8.
- Frankel, S S, R M Steinman, N L Michael, S R Kim, N Bhardwaj, M Pope, M K Louder, et al. 1998. "Neutralizing Monoclonal Antibodies Block Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection of Dendritic Cells and Transmission to T Cells." *Journal of Virology* 72 (12): 9788–94. http://jvi.asm.org/content/72/12/9788.abstract.
- Gao, F, E Bailes, D L Robertson, Y Chen, C M Rodenburg, S F Michael, L B Cummins, et al. 1999. "Origin of HIV-1 in the Chimpanzee Pan Troglodytes Troglodytes." *Nature* 397 (6718): 436–41. doi:10.1038/17130.
- Gicheru, M M, M Otsyula, P Spearman, B S Graham, C J Miller, H L Robinson, N L Haigwood, and D C Montefiori. 1999. "Neutralizing Antibody Responses in Africa Green Monkeys Naturally Infected with Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (SIVagm)." *Journal of Medical Primatology* 28 (3): 97–104. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10475110.
- Gold, Michael R. 2008. "B Cell Development: Important Work for ERK." *Immunity* 28 (4): 488–90. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.008.

- Grewal, I S, J Xu, and R A Flavell. 1995. "Impairment of Antigen-Specific T-Cell Priming in Mice Lacking CD40 Ligand." *Nature* 378 (6557): 617–20. doi:10.1038/378617a0.
- Haase, Ashley T. 2010. "Targeting Early Infection to Prevent HIV-1 Mucosal Transmission." *Nature* 464 (7286). Macmillan Publishers Limited. All rights reserved: 217–23. doi:10.1038/nature08757.
- Hirsch, V M, R A Olmsted, M Murphey-Corb, R H Purcell, and P R Johnson. 1989. "An African Primate Lentivirus (SIVsm) Closely Related to HIV-2." *Nature* 339 (6223): 389–92. doi:10.1038/339389a0.
- Hirsch, Vanessa M. "What Can Natural Infection of African Monkeys with Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Tell Us about the Pathogenesis of AIDS?" *AIDS Reviews* 6 (1): 40–53. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15168740.
- Huang, Weiqing, Jayashree Sinha, Jeffrey Newman, Bhoompally Reddy, Lalbachan Budhai, Richard Furie, Akshay Vaishnaw, and Anne Davidson. 2002. "The Effect of Anti-CD40 Ligand Antibody on B Cells in Human Systemic Lupus Erythematosus." *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 46 (6): 1554–62. doi:10.1002/art.10273.
- Ishiai, M, M Kurosaki, R Pappu, K Okawa, I Ronko, C Fu, M Shibata, A Iwamatsu, A C Chan, and T Kurosaki. 1999. "BLNK Required for Coupling Syk to PLC Gamma 2 and Rac1-JNK in B Cells." *Immunity* 10 (1): 117–25. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10023776.
- Jeannin, P, Y Delneste, S Lecoanet-Henchoz, J F Gauchat, J Ellis, and J Y Bonnefoy. 1997. "CD86 (B7-2) on Human B Cells. A Functional Role in Proliferation and Selective Differentiation into IgE- and IgG4-Producing Cells." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272 (25): 15613–19. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9188449.
- Kannanganat, Sunil, Bill G Kapogiannis, Chris Ibegbu, Lakshmi Chennareddi, Paul Goepfert, Harriet L Robinson, Jeffrey Lennox, and Rama Rao Amara. 2007. "Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Controllers but Not Noncontrollers Maintain CD4 T Cells Coexpressing Three Cytokines." *Journal of Virology* 81 (21): 12071–76. doi:10.1128/JVI.01261-07.
- Kasturi, Sudhir Pai, Ioanna Skountzou, Randy A Albrecht, Dimitrios Koutsonanos, Tang Hua, Helder I Nakaya, Rajesh Ravindran, et al. 2011. "Programming the Magnitude and Persistence of Antibody Responses with Innate Immunity." *Nature* 470 (7335). Nature Publishing Group: 543–47. doi:10.1038/nature09737.
- Kaur, Amitinder, Michele Di Mascio, Amy Barabasz, Michael Rosenzweig, Harold M McClure,
 Alan S Perelson, Ruy M Ribeiro, and R Paul Johnson. 2008. "Dynamics of T- and B Lymphocyte Turnover in a Natural Host of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus." *Journal of*

Virology 82 (3): 1084–93. doi:10.1128/JVI.02197-07.

- Klatt, Nichole R, Carol L Vinton, Rebecca M Lynch, Lauren A Canary, Jason Ho, Patricia A Darrah, Jacob D Estes, Robert A Seder, Susan L Moir, and Jason M Brenchley. 2011. "SIV Infection of Rhesus Macaques Results in Dysfunctional T- and B-Cell Responses to Neo and Recall Leishmania Major Vaccination." *Blood* 118 (22). American Society of Hematology: 5803–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-07-365874.
- Klein, U., K. Rajewsky, and R. Kuppers. 1998. "Human Immunoglobulin (Ig)M+IgD+ Peripheral Blood B Cells Expressing the CD27 Cell Surface Antigen Carry Somatically Mutated Variable Region Genes: CD27 as a General Marker for Somatically Mutated (Memory) B Cells." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 188 (9): 1679–89. doi:10.1084/jem.188.9.1679.
- Kling, Heather M, Timothy W Shipley, and Karen A Norris. 2011. "Alterations in Peripheral Blood B-Cell Populations in SHIV89.6P-Infected Macaques (Macacca Fascicularis)." *Comparative Medicine* 61 (3): 269–77. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3123761&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- Kornfeld, Christopher, Mickaël J-Y Ploquin, Ivona Pandrea, Abdourahmane Faye, Richard Onanga, Cristian Apetrei, Virginie Poaty-Mavoungou, et al. 2005. "Antiinflammatory Profiles during Primary SIV Infection in African Green Monkeys Are Associated with Protection against AIDS." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 115 (4): 1082–91. doi:10.1172/JCI23006.
- Kraus, G, A Werner, M Baier, D Binniger, F J Ferdinand, S Norley, and R Kurth. 1989.
 "Isolation of Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Related Simian Immunodeficiency Viruses from African Green Monkeys." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 86 (8): 2892–96. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=287025&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract.
- Krugner-Higby, L, L Kucera, N Lerche, J Sever, W Fucillo, J Allan, and R Benveniste. 1990.
 "Serological Survey for Two Simian Retroviruses in Macaques and African Green Monkeys." *Laboratory Animal Science* 40 (1): 24–28. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2153854.
- Lambotte, Olivier, Justin Pollara, Faroudy Boufassa, Christiane Moog, Alain Venet, Barton F Haynes, Jean-François Delfraissy, Asier Saez-Cirion, and Guido Ferrari. 2013. "High Antibody-Dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity Responses Are Correlated with Strong CD8 T Cell Viral Suppressive Activity but Not with B57 Status in HIV-1 Elite Controllers." *PloS*

One 8 (9): e74855. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074855.

- Langermans, J A, P Andersen, D van Soolingen, R A Vervenne, P A Frost, T van der Laan, L A van Pinxteren, et al. 2001. "Divergent Effect of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG)
 Vaccination on Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection in Highly Related Macaque Species: Implications for Primate Models in Tuberculosis Vaccine Research." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98 (20): 11497–502. doi:10.1073/pnas.201404898.
- Langermans, Jan A M, T Mark Doherty, Richard A W Vervenne, Tridia van der Laan, Konstantin Lyashchenko, Rena Greenwald, Else Marie Agger, et al. 2005. "Protection of Macaques against Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection by a Subunit Vaccine Based on a Fusion Protein of Antigen 85B and ESAT-6." *Vaccine* 23 (21): 2740–50. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.11.051.
- LeBien, Tucker W, and Thomas F Tedder. 2008. "B Lymphocytes: How They Develop and Function." *Blood* 112 (5). American Society of Hematology: 1570–80. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-078071.
- Li, Qingsheng, Lijie Duan, Jacob D Estes, Zhong-Min Ma, Tracy Rourke, Yichuan Wang, Cavan Reilly, John Carlis, Christopher J Miller, and Ashley T Haase. 2005. "Peak SIV Replication in Resting Memory CD4+ T Cells Depletes Gut Lamina Propria CD4+ T Cells." *Nature* 434 (7037): 1148–52. doi:10.1038/nature03513.
- Lozano Reina, José-Manuel, David Favre, Zeljka Kasakow, Véronique Mayau, Marie-Thérèse Nugeyre, Thierno Ka, Abdourahmane Faye, et al. 2009. "Gag p27-Specific B- and T-Cell Responses in Simian Immunodeficiency Virus SIVagm-Infected African Green Monkeys." *Journal of Virology* 83 (6): 2770–77. doi:10.1128/JVI.01841-08.
- Macchia, D, F Almerigogna, P Parronchi, A Ravina, E Maggi, and S Romagnani. 1993.
 "Membrane Tumour Necrosis Factor-Alpha Is Involved in the Polyclonal B-Cell Activation Induced by HIV-Infected Human T Cells." *Nature* 363 (6428): 464–66. doi:10.1038/363464a0.
- Malaspina, Angela, Susan Moir, Angela C DiPoto, Jason Ho, Wei Wang, Gregg Roby, Marie A O'Shea, and Anthony S Fauci. 2008. "CpG Oligonucleotides Enhance Proliferative and Effector Responses of B Cells in HIV-Infected Individuals." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 181 (2): 1199–1206. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2670450&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.

Miedema, F, A J Petit, F G Terpstra, J K Schattenkerk, F de Wolf, B J Al, M Roos, J M Lange, S

A Danner, and J Goudsmit. 1988. "Immunological Abnormalities in Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)-Infected Asymptomatic Homosexual Men. HIV Affects the Immune System before CD4+ T Helper Cell Depletion Occurs." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 82 (6): 1908–14. doi:10.1172/JCI113809.

- Milush, Jeffrey M, Kiran D Mir, Vasudha Sundaravaradan, Shari N Gordon, Jessica Engram, Christopher A Cano, Jacqueline D Reeves, et al. 2011. "Lack of Clinical AIDS in SIV-Infected Sooty Mangabeys with Significant CD4+ T Cell Loss Is Associated with Double-Negative T Cells." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121 (3): 1102–10. doi:10.1172/JCI44876.
- Moir, S, A Malaspina, K M Ogwaro, E T Donoghue, C W Hallahan, L A Ehler, S Liu, et al. 2001. "HIV-1 Induces Phenotypic and Functional Perturbations of B Cells in Chronically Infected Individuals." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America 98 (18): 10362–67. doi:10.1073/pnas.181347898.
- Moir, Susan, and Anthony S Fauci. 2009. "B Cells in HIV Infection and Disease." *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 9 (4): 235–45. doi:10.1038/nri2524.
- Moir, Susan, Jason Ho, Angela Malaspina, Wei Wang, Angela C DiPoto, Marie A O'Shea, Gregg Roby, et al. 2008. "Evidence for HIV-Associated B Cell Exhaustion in a Dysfunctional Memory B Cell Compartment in HIV-Infected Viremic Individuals." *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 205 (8): 1797–1805. doi:10.1084/jem.20072683.
- Müller, F, P Aukrust, I Nordoy, and S S Froland. 1998. "Possible Role of Interleukin-10 (IL-10) and CD40 Ligand Expression in the Pathogenesis of Hypergammaglobulinemia in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection: Modulation of IL-10 and Ig Production after Intravenous Ig Infusion." *Blood* 92 (10). American Society of Hematology: 3721–29. http://www.bloodjournal.org/content/92/10/3721.abstract.
- Murayama, Y, A Amano, R Mukai, H Shibata, S Matsunaga, H Takahashi, Y Yoshikawa, M Hayami, and A Noguchi. 1997. "CD4 and CD8 Expressions in African Green Monkey Helper T Lymphocytes: Implication for Resistance to SIV Infection." *International Immunology* 9 (6): 843–51. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9199967.
- Nishimura, Yoshiaki, Tatsuhiko Igarashi, Olivia K Donau, Alicia Buckler-White, Charles Buckler, Bernard A P Lafont, Robert M Goeken, Simoy Goldstein, Vanessa M Hirsch, and Malcolm A Martin. 2004. "Highly Pathogenic SHIVs and SIVs Target Different CD4+ T Cell Subsets in Rhesus Monkeys, Explaining Their Divergent Clinical Courses." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101 (33): 12324–29. doi:10.1073/pnas.0404620101.

- Nonoyama, S, D Hollenbaugh, A Aruffo, J A Ledbetter, and H D Ochs. 1993. "B Cell Activation via CD40 Is Required for Specific Antibody Production by Antigen-Stimulated Human B Cells." *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 178 (3): 1097–1102. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2191162&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- Ohta, Yoshihiro, Takao Masuda, Hajime Tsujimoto, Koh-Ichi Ishikawa, Toshiaki Kodama, Shigeru Morikawa, Masuyo Nakai, Shigeo Honjo, and Masanori Hayami. 1988. "Isolation of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus from African Green Monkeys and Seroepidemiologic Survey of the Virus in Various Non-Human Primates." *International Journal of Cancer* 41 (1): 115–22. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910410121.
- Pandrea, Ivona, Cristian Apetrei, Jason Dufour, Nora Dillon, Joseph Barbercheck, Michael Metzger, Béatrice Jacquelin, et al. 2006. "Simian Immunodeficiency Virus SIVagm.sab Infection of Caribbean African Green Monkeys: A New Model for the Study of SIV Pathogenesis in Natural Hosts." *Journal of Virology* 80 (10): 4858–67. doi:10.1128/JVI.80.10.4858-4867.2006.
- Pandrea, Ivona, Cristian Apetrei, Shari Gordon, Joseph Barbercheck, Jason Dufour, Rudolf Bohm, Beth Sumpter, et al. 2007. "Paucity of CD4+CCR5+ T Cells Is a Typical Feature of Natural SIV Hosts." *Blood* 109 (3): 1069–76. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-05-024364.
- Perkins, Molly R, Judith A Briant, Nina Calantone, Sonya Whitted, Carol L Vinton, Nichole R Klatt, Ilnour Ourmanov, Alexandra M Ortiz, Vanessa M Hirsch, and Jason M Brenchley. 2014. "Homeostatic Cytokines Induce CD4 Downregulation in African Green Monkeys Independently of Antigen Exposure to Generate Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Resistant CD8αα T Cells." *Journal of Virology* 88 (18): 10714–24. doi:10.1128/JVI.01331-14.
- Picker, Louis J, Shoko I Hagen, Richard Lum, Edward F Reed-Inderbitzin, Lyn M Daly, Andrew W Sylwester, Joshua M Walker, et al. 2004. "Insufficient Production and Tissue Delivery of CD4+ Memory T Cells in Rapidly Progressive Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Infection." *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 200 (10): 1299–1314. doi:10.1084/jem.20041049.
- Prince, A M, H Reesink, D Pascual, B Horowitz, I Hewlett, K K Murthy, K E Cobb, and J W Eichberg. 1991. "Prevention of HIV Infection by Passive Immunization with HIV Immunoglobulin." *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses* 7 (12): 971–73. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1812946.
- Putkonen, P, R Thorstensson, L Ghavamzadeh, J Albert, K Hild, G Biberfeld, and E Norrby. 1991. "Prevention of HIV-2 and SIVsm Infection by Passive Immunization in Cynomolgus Monkeys." *Nature* 352 (6334): 436–38. doi:10.1038/352436a0.

- Rerks-Ngarm, Supachai, Punnee Pitisuttithum, Sorachai Nitayaphan, Jaranit Kaewkungwal, Joseph Chiu, Robert Paris, Nakorn Premsri, et al. 2009. "Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to Prevent HIV-1 Infection in Thailand." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 361 (23): 2209–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0908492.
- Rogers, P R, C Dubey, and S L Swain. 2000. "Qualitative Changes Accompany Memory T Cell Generation: Faster, More Effective Responses at Lower Doses of Antigen." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 164 (5): 2338–46. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10679068.
- Rowley, R B, A L Burkhardt, H G Chao, G R Matsueda, and J B Bolen. 1995. "Syk Protein-Tyrosine Kinase Is Regulated by Tyrosine-Phosphorylated Ig alpha/Ig Beta Immunoreceptor Tyrosine Activation Motif Binding and Autophosphorylation." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270 (19): 11590–94. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7538118.
- Sahoo, N C, K V S Rao, and K Natarajan. 2002. "CD80 Expression Is Induced on Activated B Cells Following Stimulation by CD86." *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* 55 (6): 577– 84. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12028560.
- Sallusto, Federica, Jens Geginat, and Antonio Lanzavecchia. 2004. "Central Memory and Effector Memory T Cell Subsets: Function, Generation, and Maintenance." *Annual Review of Immunology* 22 (January): 745–63. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104702.
- Schmitz, Jörn E, Roland C Zahn, Charles R Brown, Melisa D Rett, Ming Li, Haili Tang, Sarah Pryputniewicz, et al. 2009. "Inhibition of Adaptive Immune Responses Leads to a Fatal Clinical Outcome in SIV-Infected Pigtailed Macaques but Not Vervet African Green Monkeys." *PLoS Pathogens* 5 (12): e1000691. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000691.
- Schnittman, S M, H C Lane, S E Higgins, T Folks, and A S Fauci. 1986. "Direct Polyclonal Activation of Human B Lymphocytes by the Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome Virus." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 233 (4768): 1084–86. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3016902.
- Schönbeck, Correspondi, U., and P. Libby. 2001. "The CD40/CD154 Receptor/ligand dyadRID='†'ID='†' Review." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 58 (1): 4–43. doi:10.1007/PL00000776.
- Seder, Robert A, Patricia A Darrah, and Mario Roederer. 2008. "T-Cell Quality in Memory and Protection: Implications for Vaccine Design." *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 8 (4): 247–58. doi:10.1038/nri2274.
- Shibata, R, T Igarashi, N Haigwood, A Buckler-White, R Ogert, W Ross, R Willey, M W Cho,
and M A Martin. 1999. "Neutralizing Antibody Directed against the HIV-1 Envelope Glycoprotein Can Completely Block HIV-1/SIV Chimeric Virus Infections of Macaque Monkeys." *Nature Medicine* 5 (2): 204–10. doi:10.1038/5568.

- Simek, M. D., W. Rida, F. H. Priddy, P. Pung, E. Carrow, D. S. Laufer, J. K. Lehrman, et al. 2009. "Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Elite Neutralizers: Individuals with Broad and Potent Neutralizing Activity Identified by Using a High-Throughput Neutralization Assay Together with an Analytical Selection Algorithm." *Journal of Virology* 83 (14): 7337–48. doi:10.1128/JVI.00110-09.
- Sims, Gary P, Rachel Ettinger, Yuko Shirota, Cheryl H Yarboro, Gabor G Illei, and Peter E Lipsky. 2005. "Identification and Characterization of Circulating Human Transitional B Cells." *Blood* 105 (11): 4390–98. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-11-4284.
- Smit-McBride, Z, J J Mattapallil, M McChesney, D Ferrick, and S Dandekar. 1998. "Gastrointestinal T Lymphocytes Retain High Potential for Cytokine Responses but Have Severe CD4(+) T-Cell Depletion at All Stages of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Infection Compared to Peripheral Lymphocytes." *Journal of Virology* 72 (8): 6646–56. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=109855&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract.
- Spaks, Artjoms, Irina Spaka, and Alla Rivkina. 2011. "Flow Cytometry Immunophenotyping of Peripheral Blood Circulating B-Cell Subset: Comparison of Osteoarthritis, Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Patients and Normal Donors." *Journal of Translational Medicine* 9 (Suppl 2). BioMed Central: P20. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-S2-P20.
- Terahara, Kazutaka, Hiroshi Ishii, Takushi Nomura, Naofumi Takahashi, Akiko Takeda, Teiichiro Shiino, Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota, and Tetsuro Matano. 2014. "Vaccine-Induced CD107a+ CD4+ T Cells Are Resistant to Depletion Following AIDS Virus Infection." *Journal of Virology* 88 (24): 14232–40. doi:10.1128/JVI.02032-14.
- Titanji, Kehmia, Angelo De Milito, Alberto Cagigi, Rigmor Thorstensson, Sven Grützmeier, Ann Atlas, Bo Hejdeman, et al. 2006. "Loss of Memory B Cells Impairs Maintenance of Long-Term Serologic Memory during HIV-1 Infection." *Blood* 108 (5). American Society of Hematology: 1580–87. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-11-013383.
- Titanji, Kehmia, Vijayakumar Velu, Lakshmi Chennareddi, Matam Vijay-Kumar, Andrew T Gewirtz, Gordon J Freeman, and Rama R Amara. 2010. "Acute Depletion of Activated Memory B Cells Involves the PD-1 Pathway in Rapidly Progressing SIV-Infected Macaques." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 120 (11): 3878–90. doi:10.1172/JCI43271.

- Vinton, Carol, Nichole R Klatt, Levelle D Harris, Judith A Briant, Brigitte E Sanders-Beer, Richard Herbert, Ruth Woodward, et al. 2011. "CD4-like Immunological Function by CD4-T Cells in Multiple Natural Hosts of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus." *Journal of Virology* 85 (17): 8702–8. doi:10.1128/JVI.00332-11.
- Wang, D, J Feng, R Wen, J C Marine, M Y Sangster, E Parganas, A Hoffmeyer, et al. 2000.
 "Phospholipase Cgamma2 Is Essential in the Functions of B Cell and Several Fc Receptors." *Immunity* 13 (1): 25–35. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10933392.
- Wilks, Andrew B, James R Perry, Elizabeth P Ehlinger, Roland C Zahn, Robert White, Marie-Claire Gauduin, Angela Carville, Michael S Seaman, Joern E Schmitz, and Sallie R Permar. 2011. "High Cell-Free Virus Load and Robust Autologous Humoral Immune Responses in Breast Milk of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected African Green Monkeys." *Journal of Virology* 85 (18): 9517–26. doi:10.1128/JVI.00796-11.
- Xu, J, T M Foy, J D Laman, E A Elliott, J J Dunn, T J Waldschmidt, J Elsemore, R J Noelle, and R A Flavell. 1994. "Mice Deficient for the CD40 Ligand." *Immunity* 1 (5): 423–31. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7882172.
- Zan, H, A Cerutti, P Dramitinos, A Schaffer, and P Casali. 1998. "CD40 Engagement Triggers Switching to IgA1 and IgA2 in Human B Cells through Induction of Endogenous TGF-Beta: Evidence for TGF-Beta but Not IL-10-Dependent Direct S Mu-->S Alpha and Sequential S Mu-->S Gamma, S Gamma-->S Alpha DNA Recombination." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 161 (10). American Association of Immunologists: 5217–25. http://www.jimmunol.org/content/161/10/5217.full.

APPENDIX: Summary of Results

Parameter	Total B Cells	SP CD27+ Memory Cells	DP CD21+CD27+ Memory Cells	Naïve B Cells	Tissue like Memory B Cells	
Frequency	AGM <rm (*)</rm 	No diff	AGM <rm (***)</rm 	No diff	No diff	
Absolute Number	AGM <rm (*)</rm 	No diff	AGM <rm (*)<="" th=""><th>AGM<rm (*)</rm </th><th>AGM<rm (*)</rm </th></rm>	AGM <rm (*)</rm 	AGM <rm (*)</rm 	
Frequency of CD86+ cells upon anti-IgM/IgG for 48h	No diff	AGM <rm (*)</rm 	No diff	AGM>RM (****)	No diff	
Frequency of CD86+ cells upon anti-IgM/IgG for 48h (Normalized to Unstim)	No diff	No diff	No diff	AGM>RM (****)	No diff	
MFI of CD86 upon anti- IgM/IgG for 48h	AGM>RM (*)	No diff	AGM>RM (***)	No diff	No diff	
MFI of CD40 upon anti- IgM/IgG for 48h	No diff	AGM>RM (****)	AGM>RM (*)	GM>RM (*) AGM>RM (*)		
MFI of CD40 in CD40hi cells upon anti-IgM/IgG for 48h	AGM>RM (**)	AGM>RM (****)	AGM>RM (**)	AGM>RM (*)	AGM <rm (****)</rm 	
	Total B cells	Memory B cells				
Frequency of PLCg2hi Cells	AGM>RM (**)	AGM>RM (**)				
MF1 of PLC-g2 in PLC-g2hi Cells	AGM>RM (**)	AGM>RM (**)				
Frequency of PLCg2low Cells	AGM <rm (**)</rm 	AGM <rm (**)</rm 				
MFI of PLC-g2 in PLC-	AGM>RM	AGM>RM	-			
g2low Cells	(*) AGM>RM	(*) AGM>RM	-			
Frequency of EKKIni Cells	(**)	(**)	-			
MFI of ERKI in ERKIhi Cells	No diff	No diff				
Frequency of ERK11ow Cells	AGM <rm (**)</rm 	AGM <rm (**)</rm 				
MFI of ERK1 in ERK1low	AGM>RM	AGM>RM				
Cells Fraguency of SVKhi Cells	(**) No diff	(**) No diff	-			
Frequency of STKni Ceus	No diff	No diff	-			
Fraguanay of SVKlow Calla	No diff	No diff	4			
MEL of SVK in SVKlow Cells	No diff	No diff	1			
			4			
Frequency of Cells phosphorylated PLCg2 upon anti-IgM/IgG for 10 min	No diff	No diff				

MFI of pPLcg2 upon anti- IgM/IgG for 10 min	AGM>RM (**)	No diff
frequency of Cells phosphorylated ERK1/2 upon anti-IgM/IgG for 10 min	No diff	No diff
MFI of pERK1/2 upon anti- IgM/IgG for 10 min	No diff	No diff
Frequency of Cells phosphorylated SYK upon anti-IgM/IgG for 10 min	No diff	No diff
MFI of SYK upon anti- IgM/IgG for 10 min	No diff	AGM>RM (*)

Table 2. Summary of B cell analysis results. p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****. No diff= no statistically significant differences were found.

Parameter	Total CD4 T cells	Naïve CD4 T cells	CM CD4 T cells	EM CD4 T cells	Total DN T cells	Naïve DN T cells	CM DN T cells	EM DN T cells
Frequency	AGM <rm (****)</rm 	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (**)	AGM>R M(**)	No diff
Absolute Number	AGM <rm (**)</rm 	AGM <r M (*)</r 	AGM <rm (*)<="" th=""><th>AGM>R M (**)</th><th>No diff</th><th>AGM< RM (*)</th><th>No diff</th><th>NO diff</th></rm>	AGM>R M (**)	No diff	AGM< RM (*)	No diff	NO diff
MFI of CD3 (Unstimulated)	AGM <rm(*)</rm(No diff	AGM <rm (****)</rm 	AGM <r M (*)</r 	No diff	AGM> RM (*)	No diff	No diff
MFI of CD3 (Stimulated with PMA/I for 6 hours)	AGM <rm (*)</rm 	AGM <r M (***)</r 	AGM <rm (**)</rm 	AGM <r M (***)</r 	AGM <rm (***)</rm 	AGM< RM (****)	AGM <r M (**)</r 	AGM< RM (*)
MFI of CD3 (Ratio)	No diff	AGM>R M(**)	No diff	No diff	AGM>RM (***)	AGM> RM (****)	AGM>R M(*)	AGM> RM (**)
MFI of CD4 (Unstimulated)	No diff	No diff	AGM <rm (****)</rm 	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	Not tested	Not tested
MFI of CD4 (Stimulated with PMA/I for 6 hours)	AGM>RM (*)	No diff	No diff	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	Not tested	Not tested
MFI of CD4 (Ratio)	No diff	No diff	AGM <rm (*)<="" th=""><th>No diff</th><th>Not tested</th><th>Not tested</th><th>Not tested</th><th>Not tested</th></rm>	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	Not tested	Not tested
MFI of CD95 (Unstimulated)	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff
MFI of CD95 (Stimulated with PMA/I for 6 hours)	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	AGM>R M (**)	AGM> RM (****)
MFI of CD95 (Ratio)	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff
MFI of CD28 (Unstimulated)	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested
MFI of CD28 (Stimulated with PMA/I for 6 hours)	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested
MFI of CD28 (Ratio)	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested	Not tested	No diff	No diff	Not tested
Frequencies of CD25+ Cells following PMA/I stimulation for 6h	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff
MFI of CD25 following PMA/I stimulation for 6h	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff
Frequencies of CD154+ Cells following	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff

PMA/I stimulation for 6h								
MFI of CD154 following PMA/I stimulation for 6h	No diff	AGM> RM (*)						

Table 3. Summary of T cell analysis results. p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****. No diff= no statistically significant differences were found. Not tested= this subset of cells were not analyzed for this parameter.

	Parameter	Total CD4 T cells	Naïve CD4 T cells	CM CD4 T cells	EM CD4 T cell	EC CD4 T cells	Total DN T cells	Naïve DN T cells	CM DN T cells	EM DN T cells	EC DN T cell
	CD107a+	AGM< RM (**)	AGM< RM (*)	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (**)	AGM> RM (*)	No diff	AGM> RM (*)	AGM> RM (*)	AGM> RM (***)
	IFNγ+	AGM< RM (**)	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (**)	AGM< RM (**)	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff
	IL-2+	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff
	TNFα+	No diff	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (**)	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (*)	AGM< RM (**)	AGM< RM (**)	AGM< RM (*)
	IL-2+TNFα+	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (*)
	IFNγ+TNFα+	AGM< RM (*)	Not tested	No diff	AGM< RM (**)	AGM< RM (**)	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
ncy	IFNγ+IL-2+	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
Freque	CD107a+TNfα +	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
	CD107a+IL-2+	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
	CD107a+IFNy +	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff	AGM> RM (*)	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
	IFNγ+IL- 2+TNFα+	No diff	Not tested	AGM< RM (*)	AGM< RM (*)	AGM< RM (*)	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
	CD107a+IL- 2+TNFα+	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
	CD107a+IFNγ +TNFα+	AGM< RM (**)	Not tested	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (**)	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
	CD107a+IFNy +IL-2+	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (*)
	CD107a+IFNγ +IL-2+TNFα+	AGM< RM (*)	Not tested	No diff	No diff	AGM< RM (*)	No diff	Not tested	No diff	No diff	No diff
	CD107a	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	AGM> RM (*)	No diff	No diff	AGM> RM (*)	No diff
_	IFNγ	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff
MF	IL-2	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff
	TNFα	AGM< RM (**)	AGM< RM (*)	AGM< RM (*)	AGM< RM (***)	AGM< RM (***)	AGM< RM (*)	No diff	AGM< RM (*)	AGM< RM (*)	AGM< RM (**)

Table 4. Summary of T cell cytokine patterns. p value <0.05*, or <0.01**, or <0.001***, or <0.0001****. No diff= no statistically significant differences were found. Not tested= this subset of cells were not analyzed for this parameter.